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Since the establishment of the Independent Police Complaints Council
(IPCC) as a statutory body in 2009, the Council has upheld the
principle of fairness and impartiality in examining each and every
complaint. In last year's Report, a rebound in the overall number of
complaints as the society returns to normalcy was anticipated. The
anticipation has been echoed by the actual number of complaints this
year. With increased interaction between the police and the public, the
number of complaints arising from performing daily policing duties
has risen accordingly. In 2023/24, the Council endorsed a total of
2,318 allegations, a 5% increase from the previous year. These
complaints mainly involved traffic enforcement, stop-and-search and
handling of street disputes, etc.

In this reporting period, a majority of allegations were minor in nature
(including “Improper Manner” and “Neglect of Duty”), totalling 2,157
counts and accounting for over 93% of all allegations. The other 159
allegations were of a serious nature (including “Assault”,
“Unnecessary Use of Authority”, “Threat” and “Fabrication of
Evidence”), representing a decrease of more than 30% as compared
to 242 allegations in the preceding year. After full investigation, one
count of “Unnecessary Use of Authority” was classified as
“Substantiated”.
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Since | took up IPCC chairmanship, the Council has continued to
handle each complaint in a fair manner and in the vetting process,
identify areas for improvement within the police force to reduce
unnecessary complaints, in pursuit of impartiality and excellence in
the complaints system. During the reporting period, the Council
proposed a total of 20 Service Quality Improvement Initiatives (SQlls),
covering traffic enforcement, handling of detained persons, police
equipment, etc. In view of the growing number of online fraud cases
stemming from the increasing popularity of online payments such as
the Faster Payment System (FPS), the Council has recommended the
police strengthen their training to help frontline officers swiftly and
effectively assess whether cases of mis-transfer of money contain any
criminal elements, and take timely action to protect the property of
members of the public. The SQlls proposed by the Council also
address the needs of various groups in our society. One
recommendation aims to enhance police officers’ sensitivity towards
identifying mentally incapacitated persons. Additionally, the Council
recommends that the police should take statements from visually
impaired persons by way of video-recorded interviews. These
recommendations further protect the rights of people with different
needs.

Over the past year, one of the IPCC’s focuses has been engaging in
ongoing discussions with the Complaints Against Police Office (CAPO)
on ways to enhance the effectiveness of the complaints handling
mechanism. This year, IPCC and CAPO have officially implemented the
streamlined procedures for Informal Resolution (IR), which has
successfully expedited the handling of minor complaints. The overall
efficiency of complaints handling is enhanced and the operation of the
complaints system gets smoother. At present, the average time for a
complaint processed through IR is 77 days, representing a reduction
of more than 20% as compared to 100 days before the streamlined
procedures were implemented. The streamlined procedures have not
only sped up the processing time of the two-tier police complaints
system, but also made the system more effective by handling public
grievances in the shortest time possible and expediting investigations.
Furthermore, the streamlined procedures have allowed resources to
be devoted to complaints that require extensive investigation, as well
as to follow-up work on the SQlls made by the Council to the police,
attaining overall quality improvement of the complaints system.

The police have been facing continuous challenges in our ever-
changing society. Therefore, IPCC attaches great importance to in-
depth engagement with frontline police officers, which assists Council
Members to take into consideration actual policing work conditions
when examining each complaint. IPCC has noted that the police have
been shouldering the responsibility of combatting online crimes in
recent years, in addition to performing daily policing duties. The rising
number of online scams has prompted more members of the public to
report deception cases to the police. The increased interaction
between the public and police officers could result in more
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IPCC engaged with frontline police officers from the Marine Police Regional Headquarters (left) and Emergency Unit New Territories North (right) in
May and October 2023.
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complaints. In view of this, Council Members visited the Anti-
Deception Coordination Centre and Anti-Deception Alliance to gain
first-hand understanding of the police’s measures in combatting and
preventing scams, as well as aspects that may lead to complaints.
During the year, | also visited other police units with Council Members
and Secretariat staff to understand different areas of policing. Looking
ahead, | hope to deepen our understanding of the duties of and
challenges faced by frontline police officers through more visits to
police units, thereby enabling the Council to examine complaint cases
from different perspectives and to follow up on the police’s progress in
implementing the SQlls.

Another focus of the Council under the Independent Police Complaints
Council Ordinance is to enhance the public’s understanding of our
work. Therefore, IPCC actively collaborates with schools to instil an
awareness of complainants’ rights and responsibilities among the
younger generation. By sharing the vetting process of complaint
cases, IPCC guides students to comprehend what constitutes an
effective complaints system, as well as the principles of fairness and
impartiality, and the evidence-based thinking model. Furthermore,
students can gain a deeper understanding that the complaint process
is not merely about addressing public grievances; more importantly, it
is also about assisting the police force in identifying areas for
improvement. This is precisely the purpose of IPCC in setting up the
SQll mechanism.
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As illustrated by the cover design of this Annual Report, | see close
resemblance of the IPCC team to a sailing team. Council Members,
Observers and Secretariat staff play different roles and strive to
discharge their respective duties aboard the vessel, ensuring optimal
performance of the IPCC functions and steadfast implementation of
the current complaints system. On this journey, | warmly welcome our
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new Members Mr Kevin Chan Wing-tak, Mr Matthew Lam Kin-hong, Dr
Jimmy Wong Chi-ho and Dr Stanley Yim Yuk-lun on board our Council. |
also extend my heartfelt gratitude to our five retired Members — Mrs
Helen Yu Lai Ching-ping, Mr Clement Chan Kam-wing, Mr Wilson
Kwong Wing-tsuen, Dr Anissa Chan Wong Lai-kuen and Mr Roland
Wong Ka-yeung — for their unwavering support to the Council’s work
and invaluable contributions to society.

| must also thank the over one hundred IPCC Observers for their
participation in 1,751 interviews and collection of evidence
conducted by CAPO in 2023/24, achieving a remarkable attendance
rate of 98%. This commitment further strengthens IPCC’s ability to
carry out its monitoring function and boosts public confidence in the
complaints system. | would like to extend my appreciation to the
Secretary-General for leading the Secretariat with steadfast
commitment, integrity and loyalty. Their support has been
instrumental in assisting both myself and the full Council in managing
and executing our work, while maintaining a high level of governance
and overall efficacy of IPCC.

Much like a sailboat needing to maintain its balance while navigating
stormy seas, the Council must maintain impartiality in assessing the
arguments and evidence presented by both complainants and
complainees during the vetting process. In navigating its
responsibilities, IPCC adheres to the principle of handling each
complaint strictly on the basis of fact and evidence, honestly, without
fear or favour. This ensures that IPCC can remain impartial in
delivering justice for both complainants and complainees regardless
of the ebbs and flows. The sailing team will effectively utilise the
relationship between the angle of the sail and the wind force to propel
the boat towards its target; just as IPCC uses SQlls, where areas of
improvement that are revealed from the handling of complaints, to
transform into a direction for overall advancement of the system.

Hong Kong is making steady progress, with all sectors boldly
advancing in their respective capacities. IPCC will continue to stay
committed, working hand in hand with all sectors of the society to
usher in a new chapter, a new atmosphere, and a new milestone for

» SBS » JP
Priscilla WONG PUI sze, SBS, JP
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IPCC Chairman
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_ Mr CHAN Chak-ming
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Prof LIN Feng
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*  Dr Daniel CHAN Ching-yan, BBS, MH reached the end of his tenure
as Chairman of the Operations Advisory Committee in August
2024 and was succeeded by Prof LIN Feng.

%8

Members

PRERIEEL, EREBRE P
585, MH, JP Mr Roland WONG
Dr Anissa CHAN Ka-yeung, Jp
WONG Lai-kuen,
SBS, MH, JP
* 2201865 1 HEZRME e« Appointed on 1 June 2018 * 22018568 1 HEZRME e« Appointed on 1 June 2018
* 220245831 BERMR e Retired on 31 May 2024 * 22024 F5 831 BERIR e Retired on 31 May 2024
cHER * Education Sector cER » Commercial Sector

BRI ESS - 202324 TERE 9




HEREE
Members of the IPCC

=8

Members

FIGRFTE,

MH, JP

Mr LEE Man-bun,
MH, JP

BABLL,

BBS, JP

Ms Jane Curzon LO,
BBS, JP

*R2019F 18 1 HEZRME  Appointed on 1 January 2019 *R2019E 18 1 HEZRME  Appointed on 1 January 2019
° F 5 » Commercial Sector o EER * Legal Sector
SREFLL, RERRE,
SBS MH, JP
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Ms Priscilla Wong Pui-sze (Council Chairman) and
Members met with frontline officers of the Marine
Regional Headquarters and the Emergency Unit
New Territories North to learn about the work of
different police units.
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IPCC Chairman, Members and
Secretariat  staff attended a
luncheon with the Commissioner
of Police and senior police officers
to exchange views on the police’s
work in handling complaints.
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The IPCC and CAPO conducted
regular Working Level Meetings
and quarterly Joint Meetings to
discuss matters relating to police
complaints and to follow up on the
implementation of the SQlls.
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IPCC Secretariat representatives met with members of the District Fight Crime Committee to introduce the
Council’s role and the SQlls proposed to the police by the IPCC in recent years.
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The IPCC explained Hong Kong’s two-tier police
complaints system to a delegation of Mainland
legal officials who participated in the Common
Law Training Scheme organised by the
Department of Justice.
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The IPCC set up game booths and an exhibition at the Eastern District Fight Crime Beat Drug and Support
Rehabilitation cum Promotion of Basic Law Carnival 2023, with staff providing on-site introduction to promote
public awareness of the Council’s statutory functions and the rights and responsibilities of complainants.
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Over the reporting period, the
Council reached more than 9,000
teachers and students through
28 school activities, including
talks, exhibitions and game
booths.
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Key Statistics (April 2023 — March 2024)
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93.1 % Percentage of

minor allegations*
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Minor allegations include “Neglect of Duty” and “Misconduct/Improper Manner/Offensive Language”.
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Police Complaints System in Hong Kong
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Hong Kong has adopted a two-tier police complaints system. All
complaints against the police are handled and investigated by the
Complaints Against Police Office (CAPO) of the Hong Kong Police
Force. This is the first tier of the police complaints system.

After CAPO has completed the investigation of a Reportable
Complaint, it will submit the investigation report, together with the
relevant files, documents and materials, to the Independent Police
Complaints Council (IPCC) for scrutiny.

If any doubt arises in the course of reviewing the investigation reports
and the relevant materials, the IPCC will ask CAPO for clarification or
further information. If the IPCC finds the investigation inadequate, it
will request that the case be further investigated. Only when the IPCC
is completely satisfied that the complaint case has been properly
handled will it endorse the investigation report. This is the second tier
of the police complaints system.

RFERRATRRESE EEEELRERS
CAPO investigates . IPCCreviews
complaints investigation reports
18 Independent Police Complaints Council © Report 2023/24
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F—Z Chapter1
RIMEBEZLE  About the IPCC

Hong Kong’s two-tier police complaints system

The advantage of the two-tier system is that it ensures fair and just
handling of complaints against the police. As an independent
statutory body, the IPCC objectively observes, monitors and reviews
the handling and investigation of Reportable Complaints by the
Commissioner of Police, and puts forward opinions and
recommendations regarding such complaints to the Commissioner of

Police and the Chief Executive.

R E MW R R IR ISR
1 CAPO receives Reportable Complaints

v

BIFEE

1B s
sAE R EFES Invest?gations
CAPO
mvestllgatgs ¢
compitain
P T

CAPO submits investigation reports
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IPCC reviews investigation reports

§F=H§$E“=
IPCC reviews
mvestlgatlon
reports

BIBREGR
Agrees with
investigation results
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ELEEMm ANEERT
EERNEFREEERER

FTESHRELR
Disagrees with investigation results
MEHFERRERFTFRREEZER
IPCC seeks clarification or further information
from CAPO

M/ FITHRERLEZ

+ CAPO responds to complainant

Police take appropriate action
against complainee

IPCC may offer recommendations
to the Commissioner of Police
and/or the Chief Executive on
improvement to police practices
and procedures

TIPS

Rejects reports
A ZRKAERRBNAS
Ag RN R B
AR ITFEE SR E R

May request CAPO to reinvestigate complaint

* May interview witnesses to clarify uncertainties

May raise the case during Working Level
Meetings or Joint IPCC/CAPO Meetings
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The Role and Functions of the IPCC
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The IPCC was established as a statutory body on 1 June 2009 under
the Independent Police Complaints Council Ordinance (IPCCO) (Cap.
604, Laws of Hong Kong) to observe, monitor and review the
Commissioner of Police’s handling and investigation of Reportable
Complaints against the police. With the IPCCO taking effect, the police
have statutory duty to comply with the IPCC’s requests. The IPCCO
ensures the independence of the IPCC in carrying out its monitoring
functions.

The IPCC comprises a Chairman, three Vice-Chairmen and not less
than eight Members, who are all appointed by the Chief Executive
from different walks of life. This composition enables the IPCC to draw
upon the diverse expertise and experience of its Members to monitor
CAPQO’s investigation of complaints in an independent, impartial and
thorough manner. As of 31 March 2024, the IPCC comprises 18
Members.
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E—E Chapter1
BAMREEELE  About the IPCC

(BREEZEANV B FEETNEEREWNT:
The main functions of the IPCC under the IPCCO are:

SR - ERNBREH R R REENFAEAERKSIIE

1 To observe, monitor and review the handling and investigation of
Reportable Complaints by the Commissioner of Police

ERTE kR R AR S M EBERS A RV ER A SRIATE

2 To monitor actions taken or to be taken in respect of any police officer by
the Commissioner of Police in connection with Reportable Complaints

P ER TIFE ARSIZF 5 | 2E Pl e 5 | BB B R IG T RYTRR S B Z R
3 To identify any fault or deficiency in police practices or procedures that has
led to or might lead to Reportable Complaints

AEBEE RN SITERERHEBERRFAMNERMSEER

4 To advise the Commissioner of Police and/or the Chief Executive of its
opinions and/or recommendations in connection with Reportable Complaints

5 ISR AR E BEe L Z B A B AU

To promote public awareness of the role of the Council
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Monitoring Procedures of the IPCC

ERFAERFIENMERET > BHLET
KEKRFAERREXNEERRFBER
SR EXAMWERETVIIER > L5
HERESORFERRELEDRERZ
REBURMEZEN - EMERHAE
BEREEN BFEEATHERERTE
ZEeLEFER WARE  ZEVE—D
RHEH > THARFERRBHIIFER
GERUME GRS o
HEGTRABREHE (FFEF2HS
258)  LIRAERER > BEERNFE
ERAEHEARFETHEEREEL
ERF -~ RIE- RS> BEERRERB
METEHE BPHEETERFFERE
BRERL o MBI EEECEANE
FTRERLAE ©

MELEERARERRFERREMHLH
MAENBBRERRFMEZNBEEER
AETHRERSN, RAARIKELT
HRATERNBRDK -

-3
B

TR ‘
EEgRRs

CAPO and ; =

IPCC Observers %f%fﬁii

iR SEnA

AR R
. omplainan

CAPO Officer Comglainee

i EEERZSHERRFERRNAE RERRFMET

NEEMEBERETE -

Note:
the collection of evidence by CAPO for investigation of
Reportable Complaints.

22

%,

IPCC Observers may attend interviews and site visits to observe

Under the two-tier police complaints system, after an investigation
report of a Reportable Complaint is submitted by CAPO to the IPCC,
the Secretariat will conduct a preliminary examination and may raise
Queries and ask for clarification or further information from CAPO. If
the Secretariat has no Query, the report will be submitted to Members
for scrutiny. Members can raise further Queries and discuss the case
with CAPO at Working Level Meetings or Joint Meetings if necessary.

The IPCC also administers an Observers Scheme (please refer to page
25 for details) to enhance its monitoring function and ensure that
interviews and collection of evidence are conducted by CAPO in a fair
and impartial manner during the investigation process. In addition, the
IPCC may decide on a case-by-case basis to conduct interviews with a
view to assisting Members in understanding the complaints and
clarifying any doubt. Both powers enable the IPCC to perform its
statutory functions more effectively.

If the IPCC’s final decision is not to endorse the investigation results of

a particular case, it may disclose the disagreement with CAPO over the
findings to the Chief Executive and/or the public.

|

EEEHIE
i '. IPCC
.’ Secretariat
R 4

EERES
IPCC Members

Independent Police Complaints Council ® Report 2023/24



Paxad

F—Z Chapter1
BARESZ®  About the IPCC

KRR ERR BEEEHWER BEEeZERBRE
CAPO IPCC Secretariat IPCC Members and
Observers

R N EE HREE
Complaint received Vetting Observers Scheme

-
BITRE RN EH REHHN ZENMASHBEZRAERS
Investigation Raise Queries No Query Vetting shared by three Sub-groups
J{ ~
4 '
SER R E A REEN REHN
AERSRTEED Raise Queries No Query

Investigation ¢

completed and
investigation report
submitted to the IPCC

\ J

{ N
BEREEZEN
Clarification/Provide
more information

HEFEE—SEZ
Further vetting by Chairman

EE SRR ERRE
FREREERIFEEE:

RHEH
Raise Queries

BREHSA
No Query

If required, Working Level Meeting
between the IPCC and CAPO

to be conducted
N E—ER
[d Further vetting

\

EEEE
Council’s
confirmation

BRREER
Investigation
result endorsed

4

AEER
KREEMAEGER BB
ER R Investigation result
Case unresolved not endorsed

- AITHRERS

. e Report to the Chief Executive
EE4/REEREREE @I - MARRESSREEEROERSE/
Discussion at Joint IPCC/CAPO Meeting IR A B IR TR E S

Disclose disagreement on investigation
result/opinion on actions to be taken
against defaulting officers

Respond to
complainant

EIERRFA 1
J
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IPCC Interview

BT EZBERSI > BEEGHIERE  |n addition to reviewing investigation reports, the IPCC may ask for
E=MEMALEE  LUBFEEE - BEEE  interviews with persons related to the case to clarify matters. The IPCC
AU REMENNAERETEEESIE  may interview any person who may provide relevant information or
HERSEMBEBOAL > BFKF A~ assistance, including complainants, complainees, witnesses, or other

WA~ BAEMBILALE - independent persons.
$BIRA o
Complainant IPCC

- o

I\

Ht\iz At EA IR A
Other Witness Complainee
independent
person

24 Independent Police Complaints Council e Report 2023/24




BE&actE

Observers Scheme

EEEBRB(EEZHRL) THRREE
MR HERBAE - EETE8I T BEEIH

ZENBREAREZHFIRETRIN
BRT » BREHFERRNAERKFIE
THEEmRERRETF -

EEZENEHRERELERRAG > thfI
MRZBERAREME X UEBHERITEER
B o

EEEERENACEHRMER -
VARFRSRENHE > WRFPILM
AENEETHR -BREFES RN
TREZNERNBEE EBERSTHE
2R EnNEEEERRHFERRETH
CHNERRERTATFAL %QEE
FEZR @ BEGQNEARFERRRE

BRFANNDAHAEFTE > AJ2RRFERER
ZHEREHEMEZRNEm - BEY
RBHZHERBRS - FERBERETW

ERFRABEIIERE °
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(ipllE

Chapter 1
About the IPCC

In accordance with the IPCCO, the IPCC administers an Observers
Scheme to strengthen its monitoring function. Under the Scheme, IPCC
Members and Observers may attend interviews and site visits to
observe the collection of evidence in connection with CAPO’s
investigation of Reportable Complaints. The observations can be
carried out on a pre-arranged basis or without appointment.

Appointed by the Secretary for Security, IPCC Observers are drawn
from a wide spectrum of society. They serve on a voluntary basis.

The role of an IPCC Observer is primarily to observe and report.
Observers must maintain the highest standard of integrity and remain
neutral and impartial during observation, without participating in or
interfering with the collection of evidence or conduct of interviews.
After each observation, Observers will advise the IPCC whether or not
the interview or collection of evidence was conducted in a fair and
impartial manner. Should any irregularities be reported, the IPCC will
take up the matter with CAPO.

Complainants can tell CAPO if they wish an IPCC Observer to be
present during their interview with CAPO. The IPCC will endeavour to
arrange for an Observer to be present. All information acquired in the
course of observations will be kept confidential.

8 F2024F3H318

OBSERVERS EEEHENSRERE-

As of 31 March 2024,
there are 118
y IPCC Observers.
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HEENZE Appointment of Observers

HREGHRERRRLARRESIE - M  IPCC Observers are appointed by the Secretary for Security. To ensure
REREMPRIT  (BEEGMRBI)FE331%5T  their impartiality, Section 33 of IPCCO stipulates that the following

AU T ALHREREZEABERES ! persons are NOT eligible for appointment as Observers:
1. TEBNBEBIEPIREZFHBACR 1. A person who holds an office of emolument, whether permanent
mBERIERME) WAL or temporary, in a Government bureau or department
2. HEGNER - EEEBIIEMEM 2. The Secretary-General, the Legal Adviser or any other employee
(== of the Council
3. BEEBRMEMAL 3. Aformer member of the police force
ELgEss
IPCC Observer
BERA S HIGERA IRERRAAR
Complainant / Complainee CAPO Officer
»
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g EERNE TR
Joint Meetings: IPCC and CAPO

BEEGNKRHERRGEMRRETEEME The IPCC and CAPO conduct quarterly Joint Meetings to discuss
B3 SImRAFERNAEBRER matters relating to police complaints.

ATBARETHREEGH I BEE  To enable the public to better understand the work of the IPCC, part of
ERBARBDEDRAEESIE - BiF  each Joint Meeting is open to the public and the media. The dates and
EHENBBANZEESEAIGANEE SR  agenda of the Joint Meetings are published in advance on the IPCC
WEAM REARDTENGHRLCEITE  website. Minutes of the open part of each meeting are also uploaded
FEEEZEAL (www.ipcc.gov.hk) o to the IPCC website (www.ipcc.gov.hk).
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Reportable Complaints and Notifiable Complaints

AERIE R Reportable Complaints

VEERGS) SIETREMEBENEFHEAE  “Reportable Complaints” refer to complaints lodged by members of

HRPEBEBMENKRIEABNITAPITE  the public that are not vexatious or frivolous and are made in good

HEV e o BERFWBEHERZER A faith, and are pertinent to the conduct of police officers while on duty

ETATENAL(HEAR) EHMIE  or who identify themselves as police officers while off duty. The

> MBI IFHEE RIS EIEEFEN®F o complaint should be made by or on behalf of a person directly
affected by the alleged misconduct.

KRR ERFVEZR(EEGHRODRE > 38 CAPO must submit investigation reports to the IPCC for scrutiny
RBEREFNASHRS TEEGTSEZ > pursuant to the IPCCO. In the event that any fault or deficiency in the
ETOERRHERE > MEZEIRERE  police practices or procedures that has led to or might lead to
REIZF 5 ErI e 5| B FraITR<8C  complaint is identified during the course of case vetting, the IPCC may
AEZER > JAERRHNSES make recommendations to the police for service improvement.

JREERIG SR
Reportable Complaints
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Notifiable Complaints

“Notifiable Complaints” are complaints not categorised as “Reportable
Complaints”. These include anonymous complaints or complaints
lodged by persons who are not directly affected by the case.

CAPO must regularly submit a list of “Notifiable Complaints” with brief
description to the IPCC for examination. If the IPCC considers any of
these cases to be “Reportable Complaints”, the IPCC may raise with
CAPO, and CAPO will reconsider the categorisation of the complaint.
Moreover, the IPCC may request CAPO to submit further explanation or
supporting information in relation to the categorisation of any
particular complaint.

According to the IPCCO, complaints relating to the following matters
are neither Reportable Complaints nor Notifiable Complaints, and they
are not dealt with under the two-tier complaints system.

*  Complaints arising from the issue of summons or imposition of
fixed penalty, which solely relate to the validity of the issue

e  Complaints lodged by a person in his official capacity as a
member of the police force

Complaints that fall under the scope of investigation of other
statutory bodies

AR
Notifiable
Complaints
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Classification of Investigation Results

—RERFESR—IEHZN—EREZE . A complaint may consist of one or more allegations. After CAPO has

EEKEFERRLAASTE > 8BRE\EF  conducted a full and thorough investigation into an allegation, it will

BERDBATIIREZ— ! be classified as one of the following six types according to the
findings:

3 AR OB ANEREETURNEBEDS  BEED

%ﬁﬂﬂg% RIS TBETERABE

4 ke e MRFARIEERBRDNERZS » HIEERIIS THEAR
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An allegation is classified as “Not Fully Substantiated” when there is some
Not Fl.llly reliable evidence to support the allegation made by the complainant, but is

Substantiated insufficient to fully substantiate the complaint.

An allegation is classified as “Unsubstantiated” when there is insufficient evidence
to support the allegation made by the complainant.

Unsubstantiated

BIUBRESRERHFEET  2023/24THERE 31
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Other Complaint Classifications

BERFEFBEMS ZRE > EFIETT  Some complaints are handled by other means so that full
LHEHAD - BLERFNDES ! investigation is not necessary. These complaints can be classified as:

Me RO BRIERFATTEER ©
Bl sr AEliRER > BE SN EBRER > BERFAZERIFHERRE -
SN > KR AR > EERTA—ERINS TRFHEL - EEERRFE

RREBUF GRS > ATRTRBETREHEE > LREFEEN > SBER—
S RRTEE -

]_ R (E]

AETRIERT - IEEEWINA TEEBSE )

s TEEMERKFHNEBABNSMN
* REEHSRIFANGIF  UREEEBED

Figds FRAERTARTERRFAREERERRFANSD > RFERREFNTRIUE
- — 178 - RFERRGRBAFELR > EEEEREFANSH ; REEEFR
B > 4 EIFHRBEERRFAZMDBIGER o

N
H
vl
N

ESh > BMERERBRIZFEBAEN SN RKFARERERE » BE S KK
ERREBRARFRE > RERCRBETE2EFAE > WRIEFIFER » ZEEM
—RIEERTEE -

MRIESRT ) BRIEAMRAFEHARFERRER » BENFARBR (BIURERFA
B ARE) MERFRAMBAERHBER R ERILRESE -

e
F
i}

MEBMER NIRRT EEREMBR—EEEEMAIRT » FIINRE R EIHE
EEBAVIRIE

EiRG{E EEEBEES ARSI > FEELEAE - B TR —SEEER L
E AR W&mggﬁ@ AHETERA S > BRI REEHA T REE c MEMEAS
BB B T TEATI B B R AR 0 A R E T B LR R o

RIBEB > RFER TEBHES AR BERFREMBZRE -
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A complaint is classified as “Withdrawn” when the complainant does not wish to pursue
the complaint after making it.

Even when a complainant withdraws a complaint, the IPCC will ensure that the
withdrawn complainant has made the decision voluntarily.

A complainant’s withdrawal does not necessarily result in the case being classified as
“Withdrawn”. The IPCC and CAPO will examine the evidence available to ascertain
whether full investigation is warranted despite the withdrawal and/or whether any of the
allegations are substantiated on the basis of information available.

An allegation is classified as “Not Pursuable” when:

* The identity of the officer in the complaint cannot be ascertained
e The cooperation of the complainant cannot be obtained to proceed with the
investigation

Not The above definition does not mean that no further action will be taken when the
complainant cannot identify the complainee. CAPO will make every effort to identify the

Pursuable complainee(s) on the basis of the information available. Only after such effort fails will the
conclusion be reached that the identity of the complainee cannot be ascertained.

Even though the officer in question remains unidentified or the complainant fails to
render assistance, the IPCC and CAPO will examine the evidence available to ascertain
whether full investigation is warranted and/or whether any of the allegations are
substantiated on the basis of information available.

A complaint is classified as “Curtailed” when it has been registered with CAPO but is

Curtailed curtailed — i.e. not fully investigated — on the authorisation of the Chief Superintendent
(Complaints and Internal Investigations Branch), owing to special circumstances such as
known mental condition of the complainant.

The “Informal Resolution Scheme” aims at speedy resolution of minor complaints, such as
allegations of impoliteness or use of offensive language, the nature of which is
considered relatively minor.

A minor complaint suitable for Informal Resolution will not be subject to full investigation.

Instead, a senior officer of at least the rank of Chief Inspector of Police will act as
Informally Conciliating Officer and make separate enquiries with the complainant and the
Resolved complainee regarding the facts of the complaint. If the Conciliating Officer is satisfied that

the matter is suitable for Informal Resolution and the complainant agrees, the complaint
will be informally resolved.

According to the IPCCO, there is no procedure for review once a complaint has been dealt
with by way of “Informally Resolved”.
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BHE YRS
History of the IPCC

1974 A

KFERRM I » EEFEHREESIE o
CAPO was set up to investigate complaints against the police.

1977 A

MTBIDEMBIFETHELE A RHEETER/NEI (BB/NE) KL AEFER
KR ERRNBAELF > AMERBRFAERFIEAIH

The Unofficial Members of the Executive and Legislative Councils (UMELCO)
Police Group was established to monitor CAPO’s complaint investigations.
This was the prototype of the two-tier police complaints system.

IR B
CAPO 2

1986 A

BH/NMAMERAB LN TRFAEFSEESR
ZEg) c TR > TEGMEMAKX T4
T WERIIEHBNMEEE °

The UMELCO Police Group was restructured
and became an independent body named
Police Complaints Committee (PCC). After
restructuring, the PCC comprised Justices of
the Peace as members and a supporting
secretariat.
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1994

RHFERFERREZEGI BA RHFEFBLEREZET) (BEY) UTEBRIRE
Bl > WEFRIICZESELE BB EEAS  UEEFBIRESEENHE
flﬁﬂﬁﬁb °

The PCC was further revamped to pave the way for an independent statutory body with
specific powers and functions. The PCC was renamed as the Independent Police Complaints
Council (IPCQ) to better reflect its independence.

2008

AR 2008 F 7 ABB(BUIERERRIER
FrEE RO BEESRH) o

The Legislative Council passed the Independent
Police Complaints Council Ordinance (IPCCO) in
July 2008.

(BREERBIIN2009F6 R 1 BER BESR
R ABIETERE - TERS ) oiEa ME1L
BEREFEERAEZES) (HRE®) » UBAH
B BRI AL o IE R MBAMERT A& o

The IPCC became an independent statutory body
when the IPCCO came into effect on 1 June
2009. The Chinese name of the Council was
modified to highlight its independent monitoring
role while the English name was retained.
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AERE RIEERTF

Number of Investigation Reports and Allegations

BERIBBMN AR RIS RERNT

Number of Reportable Complaint cases received and endorsed

2023/24 2022/23

BRENEERIGTEZR
Reportable Complaint cases received

1,617 1,413

B AR RIS EZE
Reportable Complaint cases endorsed

1,631 1,419

TEARREIAN (2023 F 4B 1HE20244%F
3A31H) » BEEHBERRFERRLOLY
SN AERKRFERNAERS > RE
BN 14.4% °

FHY > BREG@BIBT 1,631 RABBEKH
BRNFEER (BEFEIRBRER) & &
FHEIN14.9% ° BT BREZREIN > P RE
EER2,3181E  FIRMA.5% > Hhy
ZHERZVEERRFS THRBEST) ~ 117
BAE/REERE/MMEWE R BRIT -

RELEGRESLEB WA EZRASB
B TREEREZABE N EETE
RABE N HRBRTTEELA 1A (L
ZERIEENL.6%) > TITRFE /BERX
=/ EWME) IHEHA 1218 (%
R 1.1%) 0 TBRIT) IR XA TIA (14
ZEFRENO0%) GFHEHMFFE2RBL2E
438) -

During the reporting period (1 April 2023 to 31 March 2024), the
IPCC received reports from CAPO on the investigation of 1,617 new
Reportable Complaint cases, representing an increase of 14.4%
compared to the previous year.

In the same period, the IPCC endorsed the results of investigation for
1,631 Reportable Complaint cases (including 29 reviewed cases),
representing an increase of 14.9% compared to the previous year.
There were a total of 2,318 allegations excluding the reviewed cases,
representing an increase of 4.5% compared to the previous year. The
top three allegations in descending order were “Neglect of Duty”,
“Misconduct / Improper Manner / Offensive Language” and “Assault”.

After the IPCC’s meticulous examination, a total of 51 counts of
“Neglect of Duty” allegation (4.6% of these allegations) were
classified as “Substantiated”, “Substantiated Other Than Reported” or
“Not Fully Substantiated” (SUB/SOTR/NFS), while 12 counts of
“Misconduct/Improper Manner/Offensive Language” allegation (1.1%
of these allegations) and zero count of “Assault” allegation (0% of
these allegations) were classified as SUB/SOTR/NFS respectively
(please refer to pages 42 to 43 for detailed figures).
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BIBNIEEHT REESE) R TR
The following chart shows details of the number of allegations endorsed (by nature):

BEETRIBREE
Allegations endorsed by the IPCC

2023/24 $RIEHEEL 2022/23 $EIE4EEK
. Total numEII)er of allegations 2 ’ 3 1 8 . Total num?):r of allegations 2 ,2 1 8

BB 1,106 47.7%
Neglect of Duty 1,033 46.6%
TARE | BEXE/

el £
visenduct. | .
Improper Manner / 942 42.5%

Offensive Language

H=SIERERESR IS

el ‘90 o Classifications of investigati Its of top three allegati
Assault 137 6.2% assiications of investigation resutts or top tnree atlegations
6318 EEREE [ RCRREEREE /
K AR
=) (2.8%) SUB/ SOTR / NFS *
391.7%
Unnecessary Use 73 3.3 ¢
of Authority 2 :
2,18418 !
(97.2%) ;
2w W 23 SOANE | WMIBH | EERHE :
BEMEHNER [ KR [ BEEE 1
Threat B 200.9% UNSUB / NF/F /IR /W /NP !
:
1
\ﬂ:%%( !
E}‘.E”“ 70.3% :
Fabrication of £ ., '
Evidence o e N\
Neglect of Duty
BEEF | 10% OTE] e
H o ReE XM= | MH S Wkea
Police Procedures | 10% Misconduct / 12
Improper Manner /
Offensive Language
HMZBIT | 10%
| BR4T 0
Other Offences  00% Assault
* EME N ST A2 RSB 42E43E ©
* Please refer to pages 42 to 43 for figures of other allegations.
5 BEREMRRE > B2XNEMRHNZE 100% ° #  Substantiated/Substantiated Other Than Reported/Not Fully Substantiated
FEHFHEZEEN3IA31IH " Unsubstantiated/No Fault/False/Informally Resolved/Withdrawn/Not Pursuable
Note:  Percentage may not add up to exactly 100% due to rounding of figures.
Figures are as of 31 March of the respective reporting year.
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Investigation Results

7£2023/24F EHEIEERY2,318E EEH -
ReEBENIEEA3161E ) R 368K
I TEZRREBE  (SFAAKEERAEE
R 11.4% © 27 AW 2 T RIS B RBE
BAEE) (158.5%) » 1IEWIIA MEExs
REABE) (150.3%) » 12118 A MEx
BB (1538.3%) > 114 B M #iE
#1 (1536.1%) > 17 BB A TERT
) > AGHBEIRY5.4% ©

AEHERR 2,002 BEFETEEAENIE
ER . 331ETBEB[EL R (5
BETEHEMAEEERN16.5% 9258
5% THeariiel) (1546.2%) > 746 T8
7 MEEIBE ) (1537.3%) < RBEEERY
7 MRIERE ]

@ 531 Guidelines
—_—l

Among the 2,318 allegations endorsed in 2023/24, 316 were fully
investigated. 36 were classified as “Substantiated” (11.4% of those
fully investigated), 27 as “Substantiated Other Than Reported” (8.5%),
1 as “Not Fully Substantiated” (0.3%), 121 as “Unsubstantiated”
(38.3%), 114 as “No Fault” (36.1%), and 17 as “False” (5.4%,.

Among the remaining 2,002 allegations which did not require full
investigation, 331 were “Informally Resolved” (16.5% of those not
fully investigated), 925 were classified as “Withdrawn” (46.2%), 746
as “Not Pursuable” (37.3%). There was no allegation classified as
“Curtailed”.

@ =2Rules
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2022/23 202324 FENAEEREBLLBRE & ¢
The following table shows a comparison of figures regarding investigation results in 2022/23 and 2023/24:

EEHRANRESR
Investigation results endorsed by the IPCC

2023/24 $RIEHEEL 2022/23 $EIE4EEK
. Total numEIIJ;' of allegations 2 ’ 3 1 8 . Total numEtl):r of allegations 2 ’ 2 1 8

ELRREE l36 11.4%

Substantiated 52 9.4% KREEBERIEE
Allegations that required full investigation
RSB EHIABE 27 8.5% 2023/24 2022/23
Substantiated Other L o
Than Reported DG 3 1 6 5 5 4
AT EAEE | 103%
Not Fully Substantiated | 30.5%
EAEE 12138.3%
Unsubstantiated 177 32.0%
DR Gk 114 36.1%
No Fault 234 42.0%
EBRRE H? 5.4%
False 437.8%
FERRE S AR 33116.5%
Informally Resolved 389 23.4%

KEFR(E] 925 46.2%
Withdrawn 665 40.0%
mABE 746 37.3%
Not Pursuable 610 36.6%
EmEETEEBENIEE
Allegations that did not require full investigation
B HREBURE > BAENRMALZE 100% ° 2023/24 2022/23

FEHFHEZFEN3IB31A -
Note:  Percentage may not add up to exactly 100% due to rounding of figures. 2 ’ O O 2 1 ’ 6 6 4

Figures are as of 31 March of the respective reporting year.
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EEgRANAERFEAZNEZEHETF (RFEENRAELERISD)
Number of allegations involved in the Reportable Complaint cases endorsed by the IPCC
(by nature and by results of investigations)

IATE | BERE
At

Misconduct /
Improper Manner /
Offensive Language

: 5 PRI
Affﬂu Unnecessary Use
of Authority

B BT

Neglect of Duty

FH Year 2023/24 2022/23 12023/24 2022/23 2023/24 2022/23 2023/24 2022/23

ITREAERIEE  Allegations that required full investigation

EEREE

Substantiated 24 36 1 14 0 0 1 2

RIS RBBBEEE

Substantiated Other 26 4L 1 1 0 0 0 0

Than Reported

wET AR

Not Fully Substantiated 1 1 0 2 0 0 0 0

AAEE 2 66 106 1

Unsubstantiated 4 49 0 4 4 9 7
L 78 159 | 19 37 2 2 15 35

E R HE

False 3 6 6 12 2 17 0 1
it Subtotal 174 295 103 172 8 33 25 45

ﬁé@ﬁ%ﬁéﬁé 139 158 | 192 231 0 0 0 0
vﬁﬁf&%n 486 339 404 280 24 34 3 4
R 307 241 | 352 259 58 70 11 24
&t Subtotal 932 738 948 770 82 104 14 28
L 1,106 1,033 1,051 942 90 137 39 73
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e EHEF BT

Fabrication of

Evidence Police Procedures Other Offences

2023/24 2022/23 12023/24 2022/23 12023/24 2022/23 1 2023/24 2022/23 2023/24 2022/23

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 36 52
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 27 45
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 3
0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 121 177
0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 114 234
1 2 5 5 0 0 0 0 17 43
1 2 5 6 0 1 0 0 316 554
—
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 331 389
6 5 1 3 0 0 1 0 925 665
16 13 1 3 1 0 0 0 746 610
22 18 2 6 1 0 1 0 2,002 1,664
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ELHER A SRINAIRETT
Police Actions Against Defaulting Officers

TEARESFEEEEG@BMEZEF > £ During the reporting year, actions were taken against 79 police

B7IREGANEFTETRETE > W54 officers regarding 54 cases endorsed by the IPCC. The following table
REZE - PIEHFR TR shows the breakdown of figures:

EH1:2022/23%2023/24 FEMEERIBBNRFEARAERNER A SRINT
Police actions taken against defaulting officers regarding cases endorsed
by the IPCC during 2022/23 and 2023/24

ABEE

Number of officers

2022/23

s 0
Criminal proceedings
n LEER 0
Disciplinary review
HithAER1T
Other internal actions
&4 Warnings 20
SzA  Advice 87
4% Total 79 102
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Queries Raised with CAPO

7E2023/24 F[E  BERARFLERE
HIBW717EER AABEEEEHE
FERBIRENESEER  FINEEHE
REHNE > URABRENBIREELHE
BRBE  BEGTRESNTEERR
RERUNERS -

BEBE(EEERM) > RFERRYARE
BEEENEH SERETWIIRHFER
APEE > BELEERGMHEZETHEL
MEREM  RABREXTEZEMERNEZ
NEEE - BRER > BEES O URME—
FHARAERRBRHEN > NBFE
EXE TFEE SRR RFERREN
EXSEIREHERRE TERBZFRR
BiEES

REN HBLI9EBHABFRE
HEppEHREHRFERREFNERE
BISLUBIWARR

The IPCC raised a total of 717 Queries with CAPO in 2023/24. These
Queries included various requests to CAPO, for example, amending
the content of investigation reports, and providing more information
and clarification regarding the reports. The IPCC also made
improvement recommendations on the police practices and
procedures.

Pursuant to the IPCCO, CAPO must reply to IPCC's Queries. When the
IPCC receives responses from CAPO, the vetting teams will scrutinise
the information, explanation and views before passing them to
Members of Vetting Sub-groups for consideration. The IPCC may raise
follow-up Queries regarding the same matters or bring up the matters
to Working Level Meetings for further discussion with CAPO.
Investigation reports will be endorsed only when the IPCC is satisfied
with CAPO’s explanation.

During the reporting period, there were 419 Queries requiring further
actions. The remaining Queries were satisfactorily resolved upon
clarification or explanation by CAPO.

R E R
CAPO

Total number of Queries

/17

— B¥
pogi
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The following table shows the breakdown of figures regarding Queries raised by the IPCC:

HHEE EEBFRENEN

Total number of Queries 7 1 7 A O LELRE 4 1 9

requiring further actions

- BEA(FRENEN

Number of Queries

Total number of Queries requiring further actions

F{7 Year 2023/24 2022/23 2023/24 2022/23

HiEE Nature of Queries

. AEERDE
Classiﬁcatioﬁ of investigation results 1 5 1 22 7 83 11 3

Il HEBEXERNEFENES
Recommended improvements to 20 19 20 19

police practices and procedures

. BREFEERNEF
Compliance with police practices 17 10 5 4

and procedures

V. TR 4 5 3 1

Reasons for exercising police power

V. HEREEFASHNTIRERER
Comments on actions against 11 16 7 11

defaulting officers

VI EEREERESER

Clarification of information in 362 L7 L4 219 324

investigation reports

VIl. AEEME
Investiggtion thoroughness 1 1 1 1 4 3 5 5 7 8

v E)Eiﬂﬂeiﬁ(lgﬁeries 41 47 27 2 4

e 717 941 | 419 574
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. RELGRSHE I. Classification of investigation results
S F 023/ 2L FEEMBEER D A total of 151 Queries were raised by the IPCC in 2023/24
fEIRH 151188 > MGHFERREE regarding the classification of investigation results, of which 83
BERENSHEFE3E ) BRLKIE required further actions by CAPO. The following table shows the
1A EEPBE) AT RAE allegations that were reclassified as “Substantiated”, “Not Fully
B NrkEisiE) & TERAR s Substantiated”, “No Fault” and “False™:
mr

r/_\; Ey_&.-;a. 295 2 r E B =
8 reclassified o LEE ) - ) s AR )
from Unsubstantiated to Substantiated
a i B 5 5% S——
reclassified jtmﬂfm - ) i 5 HE?;J )
from No Fault to Substantiated
= rEREE 5% ——
2 reclassified ) MIEIEE ) < E:ﬁﬂﬂgaJ
from Not Pursuable to “Substantiated”
i MR 5% T ——
1 reclassified ) ROLEEE ) ) > R REABE ,
from Unsubstantiated to Not Fully Substantiated”
15 [imifitem WA Fif S
1 4 reclassified _omvRsER) - “I?.uﬂﬁﬁJ
from Unsubstantiated i No Fault”
=] MESEiBzs NG A TG S
8 reclassified ) RIEIEE ) - A i EE )
from Not Pursuable to “No Fault”
15 rEER B A Pt 5 R
1 reclassified FE {EXTEEJ . “Z'ItfﬁiﬂiﬁJ
from False to No Fault”
5 [t iR e B3I 2 (e
8 reclassified ]ﬁﬁﬂfaj Y l%fﬂx’FiEJ
from No Fault to False”
- rig3 2515 [
2 reclassified ) %j”ﬁ }E&@J” - l%fﬂx*iﬁj
from Withdrawn fo False”
5 Frsr sy 2514 E(E
1 reclassified . #‘t"j&”*‘?J ) > l%fﬂx’FEEJ
from Unsubstantiated to False”
= rEEEE 25112 [
1 reclassified ) ARIEE ) - l%fﬂx’ﬁiﬁj
from Not Pursuable to False
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The investigation results of 82 allegations were reclassified. The following table shows the breakdown of these
changes:

2023/ 24 F EEEERIBHNEETHEER
Changes of classification endorsed by the IPCCin 2023/24

R%9E Final classification

\miRE
RS HAEE mEEE AR BT mIEEE EREE Lagh
Substantiated Not Fully  Unsubstantiated  No Fault False Not Pursuable  Withdrawn Total
Substantiated
N/A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0 N/A 0 0 0 0 0 0
8 1 N/A 14 1 0 0 24
3 0 15 N/A 8 5 8 39
0 0 0 1 N/A 2 0 3
2 0 2 8 1 N/A 0 13
0 0 0 0 2 1 N/A 3
Total 13 1 17 23 12 8 8 82

s BREEFREB T 2718 TREEIKR  Moreover, the IPCC endorsed 27 counts of “Substantiated Other Than
BEABE) WI5E > EFAH12IHZ&E  Reported” allegations, 12 of which were registered after the IPCC
ZHIRHENREMIEMNN - 5985 365F%E  raised Queries. Another 36 incidents were recorded as “Outwith”
etk A B EE o matters*.

o TEXEE REEMERCENERESCHNSEE - BEFBEEFHDTBRETHRINE » BRAKRFASLERETIRE

* An “Outwith” matter refers to any breach of discipline or police force orders that has been disclosed in the course of complaint investigation but is not closely related to the complaint.
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REB(EZEZ®RE) FE8F (1) &
ZEORERERAEFTSIRHA
FESIRREFIRAN AR 2R » ME
BRERNRITHREFLHERZ -
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Recommended improvements to police practices
and procedures

Under section 8(1)(c) of the IPCCO, the IPCC may make
recommendations to the Commissioner of Police and/or the
Chief Executive if it identifies any fault or deficiency in the police
practices or procedures that has led to or might lead to

REAN > BEFNRSEKB RN complaint. During the reporting period, the IPCC suggested 20
EREHT 2018 © improvement measures to the police.
. EREHERNERF Ill. Compliance with police practices and procedures

BEEEARHERRELESR > U
BERFERIRNEFZABETRE
R EREBRARMESRERMN
EF o REMARN > BREENEHAH
B1718-

The IPCC may raise Queries with CAPO to ascertain whether the
police officers involved in a complaint have complied with
relevant police practices and procedures in exercising their
constabulary powers. During the reporting period, 17 Queries
were raised under this category.

Iv.

TEEEER

EEYTMEEHABERYNNE
RIER o MEMP > BEGRLHA
ETEE R LRI AR IR -

Reasons for exercising police powers

The use of police powers by officers in the discharge of their
duties is a concern to the IPCC. During the reporting period, the
IPCC raised four Queries in respect of reasons for the use of
police powers.

HERBERASHNTHRE
BER

BEPA A B B 3 8 s R AT 12
THREHRERNEE CHEY
TP B RS F RO TEIR M E
R fIMTBHREEEERKABRN
BEME - REWR > BEYLHE
BB IEIRL 11 I8E o

Comments on actions against defaulting officers

While the dispensing of advice or disciplinary action against
police officers is a matter for the Commissioner of Police, the
IPCC will examine the actions taken or to be taken to ascertain
whether they are commensurate with the seriousness of the
offences. The IPCC raised 11 Queries on such actions during the
reporting period.

VL.

EHERAERSEN

WEPN > ELEERRFHEREN
SHIERH > IR T 3627HE
5 HINBEREFRERRRRHNY
RBEELER o

VI,

Clarification of information in investigation reports

During the reporting period, the IPCC raised 362 Queries
regarding ambiguous points in the investigation reports. In such
cases, CAPO was requested to provide more background
information on the complaints.

VII.

REEHE
WEMN > BEFHIRH 111556

REERZENGSN > IERRHFE
ZRNAERWERABITE > B0
TREANBEESHES -

VII.

Investigation thoroughness

During the reporting period, the IPCC raised 111 Queries
regarding the thoroughness of police investigations. These
Queries included requests to CAPO for more in-depth
investigation by conducting interviews with witnesses and
collection of more evidence.

BUBRRESRERFEES  2023/24TFRE
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BE&astE

Observers Scheme

2023/24 BRER4EE

Total number of observation 1 ) 7 5 1

AR ZHMRERVRRNDRHTF

Number of scheduled observation and
observation without appointment

2022/23 ERER4EE
Total number of observation

1,915

BERgEiRERETENSERF

Number of observation of interviews and
collection of evidence

2022/23 2022/23
Tafc e Hr BZam
Scheduled 1 ’ 90 5 Interviews 1 ,4 2 7
RAETELY SEEIE
Without 10 Collection 488
appointment of evidence
e e
Total 1,91 5 Total 1,91 5

202324 FE > BREGNEZEREBEREH
EITT L7511 AR WMEAFETMHE8.6%
EREFLLZHNE 1,735 > RETALIRY
BloR-EL/51REEF > 51,332RK
EHRTE X HRF4IOREBEEIZBNE
A TAE o

Under the Observers Scheme, 1,751 observation sessions were
conducted by Members and Observers of the IPCC in the year
2023/24, representing a decrease of 8.6% compared to the previous
year. Among them, 1,735 were scheduled observation sessions and
16 were conducted without appointment. Out of the 1,751
observation sessions, 1,332 involved the conduct of interviews and

419 involved the collection of evidence.
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BRELELE

Observers’ attendance rate

BRELEFRRRIEEENNHT

Number of observation attended by IPCC Observers and notification received

2023/24 2022/23
HEEIZX  Observation attended 1 ,75 1 1 , 9 1 5
B Notification received 1 ,785 1 , 9 5 3
HELEER (iR EEEH)
Attendance rate (Observation / Notification received) 98. 1 % 9 8 . 1 O/o

RHERRGBETITBERT » IKE  CAPO has agreed that, as practicable, the IPCC will be notified at least
TEENEBREWRERN > fFEZEEALI 48 hours in advance of any impending interview or collection of
LB/NBFHVIBR] c TE2023/24FE > BEE  evidence. In 2023/24, 1,785 counts of notification were received
HEGFRERRF 1,785 RidA © from CAPO.

ERREBN > BEFGHREHET 1,751 During the reporting period, IPCC Observers attended 1,751

RRE - SEERIGEMEZEHEWE > (58 observation sessions, including interviews and collection of evidence,

FEIE@AIY98.1% » HELEEMAT—FMRE o amounting to 98.1% of the notification received. The attendance rate
is the same as that of the previous year.
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Notifiable Complaints

AMERRFEF
Number of Notifiable Complaints

2023/24 2022/23

KEEIRAN BN g
Notifiable Complaints examined by the IPCC

1,331 /66

B S RERRT

Re-categorised as Reportable Complaint

7 1

BEBE(EEERE) EF > RFERRA
EHREEGRIHA AN TR BHE
BYFIRLUERAR > TR RIEZIRFRES
ANERFHNER FHEGILHERR
HERESAERRS > BEORFER
AREHBRHNES  RAEERTTEN
E BRI R

EHREMR BEESHRRT 1,331FEHM
SRANBEE REFEPLA73.8% -
REZERGRE  RAERACBEEGE

FREPCRRFENRESRERR ©

Under section 9 of the IPCCO, CAPO must regularly submit a list of
Notifiable Complaints with brief description to the IPCC for
examination and explain the reasons for categorising the complaints
as Notifiable Complaints. If the IPCC considers that any of these
complaints should be classified as Reportable Complaints instead, the
IPCC will make suggestions to CAPO accordingly. CAPO will then need
to reconsider the categorisation.

During the reporting period, brief description of 1,331 Notifiable
Complaints were examined by the IPCC, representing an increase of
73.8% compared to the previous year. After examination by the IPCC,
CAPO re-categorised seven cases as Reportable Complaint on the
IPCC’s recommendation.
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IPCC Interviews Conducted

(BEEERPI) % 20158 » EELEEEHFZ
HREME > JUE REMESH NSRS
ERENEEGRHENIIFIHHAL -
BRERRNRARETHEESEEMNESE -

RREH
Public Enquiries

PRBBEHE  BEERIL T FARBEM
TREOEHEHXAKRESR - EREH
o BREEHINE7,023RAREBEE
BH B - FERRENEN BET
TILFARMMNER > §H1ERIRBE AR
AY B ] [0 7 K i@ B BRI o

According to section 20 of the IPCCO, in the course of examining
CAPQO’s investigation reports, the IPCC may interview any person who
is or may be able to provide information or assistance to the Council in
relation to the investigation reports. There were no cases requiring
IPCC interview during the reporting period.

In order to enhance transparency, the IPCC has set up various
channels for the public to make enquiry or express their opinions.
During the reporting period, the IPCC received 7,023 public enquiries
via telephone, post, email, fax and in person. Enquiries relating to the
work of IPCC were handled in accordance with the timeframe specified
under the IPCC’s performance pledge.
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BEER

Recommended Improvements

BRT R~ RIEMERIER 0 DUCHERER
AR moh » BEBRFERFIENRKE
SEEAEDIRBESR > tMERFLE
BRRFBRELE AL EEGHRTH
2 -BERNBRESRENHBAERAERR
FHTE > TEERENEZEFT &
HEKRBERNIZFAIFEZ R > WHER
MRBERNEEZR SRR %60 1]
BEEHRENEEE -

B2009FMABILEZERBES  BE
FHEHIREBEL0ENEEENER
BEHR > HaHIEH 20BN ERE 5
RE66E67H| APHEREARRTIFE
iR ERRABRBER > BT ERRE
FEUEINSR AR E A HERIED o

UTREEENHRSHANAET RN
SEEMTF

(1) BRI e EEBET S RA
E%s)

(2) RErGEBASYHE BH LET
BEEAL ) IBURE

(3) ZEUBFEEANMREALER
(mca:

(4) ZHEUNEBABBIREALUR
SRS REGEE PR

(5) REEBASREDTREABLLRE
BYE R

BERHERS
. .. Review 1
investigation reports

HHEKRER

R EZE

Identify any deficiency
in police practices

Apart from addressing complainants’ grievances by handling
complaints in a fair and impartial manner, the primary objective of
Hong Kong’s police complaints system is to enhance the service
quality of the police to prevent the recurrence of similar complaints. In
addition to observing, monitoring and reviewing the handling and
investigation of Reportable Complaints by the police, the IPCC also
identifies areas for improvement in police practices or procedures
through a rigorous vetting process and actively makes suggestions for
improvement to the police through the Service Quality Improvement
Initiative (SQI) mechanism.

Since the IPCC’s establishment as an independent statutory body in
2009, the Council has made over 240 SQlls and comments to the
police. During the reporting period, a total of 20 SQlls were put
forward [please refer to pages 66-67 for details] to enhance the
service quality of the police in different aspects and reduce
unnecessary complaints, thereby strengthening public confidence in
the two-tier police complaints system.

The following are examples of SQlls made by the IPCC to the police
during the reporting period:

(1) Assess in a timely manner whether cases of “mis-transfer of
money” contain any criminal elements

(2) Enhance frontline police officers’ sensitivity towards identifying
mentally incapacitated persons

(3) Consider taking statements from visually impaired persons by
way of video-recorded interviews

(4) Assign a police officer of the same gender as the person involved
in a police case to take photos of any marks or injuries on
sensitive body parts of the concerned person

(5) Deepen police officers’ awareness of protecting personal data
privacy of the public

f

IRHEAEES
Make recommendations

RAEKRBER
Enhance police’s
service quality

yo

11
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1. EEFL TSRS ARFEIRMNERD

Assess in a timely manner whether cases of “mis-transfer of money”

contain any criminal elements

BEFr2ffHEER THEZLEAR TBR
HREE >~ BEAER BREAHK B R
TER RZBRELLLIEEMRE > &
TROBELEEFERERNEF - LLTEH
R (FPS) 26l > BR REB®WAMRANF
P SEEE S BB ER st ik BN PT BE R FE 3t B 81 o 24
m> AR FERAHERER - BERIEA
BRMIEAREATFE -

F—REFEREP > RFAL TEHIR) &
ARET > SRR I A UK A B F SRS - FEL
ZENEEBRMEETFH— AL &KHFA
éﬂfﬁ MEgst 8 % - B HBAIRTT - iR17

BMEFEEBERTRA > BRERE -
BUE S — (8 A REAKR R A KRB HEUR
ABUSHAE > WEZRR S AP BITH A=
AW BHEREER ) HEBRAEDH
BRIFANHBAETEZERR -EBABTET
MEME BHEBRFAREZR WK
AN BERERERBE - EBAEZTRIBIR
THRTRHFANENE  BR/ERFRERE
$EIRE R WRANEE M > LEFOIEE
B WEBEFAERERARFARILE
ZEMMNERE > LEBRFAMBTE
HERRANBEER WERENE—
BA

TEREFHE - KFARMIIEEE
EEML

VBT ©

a®

%
L N\
With the increasing popularity of digital payment, transactions such as
sharing dining bills, transferring money to merchants, and settling
utility bills, can now be made more efficiently, providing the public
with greater convenience in their daily lives. Take the Faster Payment
System (FPS) as an example, users only need to enter the recipient’s
mobile phone number or email address to transfer money anytime,
anywhere. However, if the user enters incorrect information by
mistake, the relevant money may end up in the hands of strangers.

In one complaint case, money from the complainant (COM) was
transferred to a wrong recipient via FPS due to an incorrect mobile
phone number being entered for the recipient. Realising that the money
had been transferred by mistake, COM notified the bank one day after
the incident. The bank tried to contact the recipient by mail regarding
the incident, but did not receive any response. One month after the
incident, the bank informed COM that they were unable to reach the
recipient and recommended that COM approach the recipient directly,
seek legal advice, or report the incident to the police.

COM later reported the incident at a police station. Upon
understanding the incident, a police officer assisted COM to contact
the recipient by phone, but was unsuccessful. Having considered the
information provided to COM by the bank, the police officer held that
there was insufficient evidence to prove that the recipient was aware
of the incident and deliberately refused to return the money; thus, the
officer did not open a crime investigation file for COM but suggested
COM to enquire the progress in liaising with the recipient from the
bank and seek further police assistance if necessary. In this regard,
COM made an allegation of “Neglect of Duty” against the police officer.
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WRR A B R [EIE o & B EIWGR A LR IR AR
EAERFABRER—F > BNKREE
BE S IRTTRRFAN  BTRBRARABZR
BERERIBETRFAZR - EIL > Z4
WEBNENEFEKIRE - EHERAER
ZHRWRAEREAMZFEEREREE -
BUEARA BRIRITRAIE HAVENE o

KRER > RAERABRIRFAREH
BH BAAERE > FE LBLUE S
RABEBERHERBR—FNANMA
MEMIBERENETRFA > HRERM
LB EZ MY KR ER D © BIE > ARE
BABERARAHKFARILEZEFRM
ERFE WIFFEE - RFERRALR
BN T B

EEEEERRFERRNVATRE K
ﬁ&”‘ﬂsﬁﬁﬁ’ﬂa?’“” » BEEIER
PIERE 5| I KR EE 7 Bh AT R B 75 A B 5T
RH#BEELUNBEZEE DI RMERD °
FUIEEAFF > WRAEPRETABT
WEIRIE - BEARBRAENEHRER
% HAESGHIESIEEREMRIE Y BIA
st AR 2k St > BEEERZEEL
HEEBL—RIEEER BRI EEER
25 TEIEH S EEREAERE
WRAREIES » UBAGREBABEESE
EMHEEGRERERAMNERD -

BETHEENER > EHR LRI
RERVERIFEAER—FESL > INALE

ANEMR > TR EREHREMABERA
EHE TEB RERFRGDZE - EXT
FERMEEI BRREEBAENTH
EERMERESEENMNERE -

Around three months after the incident, COM filed another report to
the police and pointed out that the recipient had yet to respond.
Considering that the recipient should have been aware of COM’s
mistakenly transferred money by that time but did not take the
initiative to contact the bank or COM, the recipient was suspected of
deliberately refusing to return the money to COM. Therefore, the case
was referred to the crime unit for follow-up action. After investigation,
the police found that the recipient had been residing on the Mainland
for years and had not returned to Hong Kong; thus, the recipient had
not read the notice issued by the bank.

Upon investigation, the Complaints Against Police Office (CAPO)
noticed that COM had reported the case to the police quite soon after
the mis-transfer of money. It was difficult at that juncture to determine
whether the recipient was aware of the mistakenly transferred money
or knowingly refused to return the money to COM with dishonest
intent. It could not be established that the case had any criminal
elements. Therefore, it was not unreasonable for the police officer
concerned to not open a case file and initiate a criminal investigation
for COM at that time. Hence, CAPO classified the allegation as “No
Fault”.

In the course of examining CAPO’s investigation report, the IPCC
agreed with CAPQO’s classification of the allegation, but noticed that
police internal guidelines did not cover any aspects to assist frontline
police officers in assessing and identifying whether such cases involve
any criminal elements. In such incidents, the money is initially
transferred to the recipient without the person’s knowledge. However,
the recipient would be suspected of appropriating property belonging
to another person if they delay or refuse to return the mistakenly
transferred money after being informed of the situation. In this regard,
the IPCC recommended that the police list out a set of criteria to help
frontline police officers in making a more comprehensive assessment
of whether the incident warrants a criminal investigation. The criteria
include the amount of money involved, the time elapsed between the
mis-transfer of money and the time of the report to the police, and the
recipient’s response, among others.

In response to IPCC’s recommendation, the Police College has
included the above complaint case regarding the mis-transfer of
money in the training material as one of the scenarios for case sharing
when delivering the lecture on the topic of ‘Theft’ to the new recruits.
The police also continue to provide training to remind serving police
officers how to determine if a case should be referred to the crime
unit.
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Enhance frontline police officers’ sensitivity towards
identifying mentally incapacitated persons

EHAEARIFRFEEKIENRNALE
BETREE BEREEIBEeMLEETS
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BITARNDALI HERE

(B ZRET4R) FIFE  Photo from IPCC Frontline

In the course of their daily duties, police officers have to interact and
conduct investigations with various individuals, including mentally
incapacitated persons (MIPs). According to police guidelines, if a
police officer confirms or believes a person to be an MIP, in order to
protect the MIP’s rights and needs, the officer should, as is reasonable
and practicable, arrange an appropriate adult (e.g. a relative or a
social worker) to accompany the MIP, regardless of the MIP’s role in
the case. Since MIPs may not exhibit any obvious differences in their
behaviour when compared with that of an ordinary person, non-
professionals may not be able to identify the needs of the MIPs.
Hence, police officers must be familiar with the requirements under
the guidelines in order to maintain professional sensitivity, identify the
needs of different individuals early on, safeguard their rights and
needs, and make proper records when handling such cases. The
following are three relevant cases:

Case 1: Failed to arrange for an appropriate adult to accompany
an arrested person

The complainant (COM) was arrested by the police for “Fighting in a
Public Place”. As COM claimed to have been injured, COM was
escorted by a police officer to receive medical examination at a
hospital. While COM was waiting at the hospital, her daughter arrived
there and informed the escorting officer about COM’s mental illness
and that she needed to be seen by a psychiatrist. After COM was
registered at the Psychiatric Department, COM was guarded by
another police officer, and the escorting officer informed the guarding
officer of COM’s situation before leaving. Subsequently, COM told the
guarding officer she would seek treatment from a psychiatrist on her
own later. Thus, the officer brought COM to the police station for
investigation.

COM claimed she had made a request to the escorting officer at the
hospital to allow her to return home to pick up her psychiatric
medication and arrange for her a meeting with a social worker, but the
officer declined her requests. As such, COM made an allegation of
“Neglect of Duty” against the escorting officer. Since the escorting
officer denied the allegation and there was no independent evidence
to support or negate either party’s version of events, CAPO eventually
classified the allegation as “Unsubstantiated”.

However, when vetting the case, the IPCC found that the guarding
officer had not reported to the Duty Officer at the police station that
COM was an MIP when handing over COM, and had not arranged an
appropriate adult to help COM understand her rights and provide her
with assistance, as required under police guidelines. Consequently,
the IPCC requested CAPO to follow up on the matter. The guarding
officer told CAPO that COM’s articulate responses led her to believe
that COM was not an MIP. The IPCC’s view was that since the escorting
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officer had already briefed the guarding officer of COM’s mental
illness, as revealed by COM’s daughter, the guarding officer should
report COM’s mental condition and medical needs to the Duty Officer
in compliance with police guidelines, instead of making her own
assessment of COM’s mental condition. CAPO agreed with the IPCC’s
views, and thus registered an additional count of “Substantiated Other
Than Reported” against the guarding officer.

Case 2: Failed to arrange for an appropriate adult to accompany
a complainant during complaint interview

In their handling of a report, the police officers noticed that the
informant, i.e. the complainant (COM), was behaving abnormally due
to mental illness, and therefore invoked the Mental Health Ordinance
(MHO) to send the informant to hospital for examination. The
informant later complained the police officers of using excessive force
on her.

The IPCC noted that a CAPO investigation officer in his investigation
into the complaint learnt from the case file that COM had been sent to
hospital on the incident day due to suspected mental illness.
However, the investigation officer did not confirm with COM whether
she was an MIP, which resulted in the failure to arrange for an
appropriate adult to accompany COM during the complaint interview,
to ensure that her rights were protected. In this regard, CAPO has
verbally advised the investigation officer to adhere to the guidelines
for arranging an appropriate adult for MIP to safeguard the rights and
needs of complainant.

Case 3: Failed to record the legislation applied in the police
notebook when handling an individual with suspected mental
illness

In another similar case, the complainant (COM) was suspected to have
lost control due to mental illness. The police officer who handled the
case at the scene invoked the power under MHO to send COM to a
hospital for examination, but he did not record in his police notebook
the relevant legislation. The IPCC suggested CAPO remind frontline
officers that when exercising police powers, they must record in their
police notebooks the relevant legislation to avoid unnecessary disputes.

In summary, the police have clear guidelines on handling MIPs. If
police officers encounter MIPs or suspected MIPs in the course of their
performance of duties, they should arrange for appropriate adults to
accompany the subject persons and keep proper records in their
notebooks along the guidelines. These guidelines not only protect the
interests of those in need, but also provide CAPO with the necessary
documentation to clarify incidents in complaints handling. The three
cases above, however, show that some frontline police officers lack
sensitivity in identifying MIPs and are unfamiliar with requirements
under the relevant guidelines. The IPCC recommended that the police
should raise frontline officers’ awareness in this regard. The police
have accepted the IPCC's recommendation and reminded frontline
officers to be mindful of requirements under the relevant guidelines
and to comply with the corresponding procedures.
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Consider taking statements from visually
impaired persons by way of video-recorded interviews

B s LERIT /DAL I BEHER
BHMBE EARHBENALR  7FA
KIFEAhFIBY B BE AR R E R B 25 > DUR
R FIRYHED

AHP—REHFEZRED > RHFEABREA
T o R AIEREBIERTER > IR EPIHE
B> BERAAREARSZ BRAEHE
e —REFABAEEBERNGREFA
SHMBYE A DM MR ABEO U
ZEARR - GHTER  KFALEKS
ERF BBl OB > HIRE
DORRBRER > ZARFLERRIET
ERMEFASRBET R A £
BUSE A O - RFERREASTHME > &
RZBREFAERAERFANOHEANE
BRFABREANL » TAEEMER T8
2~ TER) THHE SFREERIKZSF
ANNMEEHBRESBPFIETIE > EEEEE
BHRRRTRFAD 'HBLESE) OHA
BoRFERRADARBEBABREE
DIt E SRR R ABE A DM BI5EDE
= ERRESE) -

ERBAERE AT ERNERE > E5E
EREBERR  SREATRBEZ W
B WHREVEERNERURBEERALRN
BREE EHFAEBREEALTERER
Oft > \EATEREHMESH TANR
RET  EERENFEDIOEANS - F
B HESEAHANTHREREAEFAS
BHRERAEE LB REALTAIEGERE
SEOHANBHERM  ERFH&R -
Hit EFEESEXRAHTTENTR
AREATERIROM  BMFAEHUERS
BAFEXAEAEBWESEAAS -
b5 - BS EIRE AR A BREI > 12
BE{th P72 1A 7 R 58 & S BN AR s - B BRF %I
FHENEERT UEEFLHBEENZ
BE o 1emiR D T AR

F=%F Chapter3
FRISEZRNEREE  Service Quality Improvement Initiatives

REC

In addition to MIPs, the police must also make appropriate
arrangements for persons with special physical needs with due
consideration of their physical conditions to protect their rights.

In one complaint case, the complainant (COM) was visually impaired.
One day, when he returned home, he discovered that the metal door
lock of his entrance had been damaged. Suspecting that someone
had intentionally vandalised it, he reported the incident to the police.
A police officer interviewed COM at the police station, recorded his
witness statement in writing, and then read the statement to COM for
confirmation. When COM returned home after the interview, he used a
character reader to read the copy of his statement and found that
some of the content was incorrect. COM thus complained to CAPO
about the police officer of “Neglect of Duty” for not accurately
recording his witness statement. During the investigation, CAPO found
that the police officer not only had failed to record in COM’s witness
statement that COM was visually impaired but also had
inappropriately used terms like “saw”, “looked at” and “read” to
describe how COM discovered the damage to his metal door lock.
Furthermore, the police officer inaccurately wrote that COM had “read
and confirmed” the content of the statement in the ending declaration.
CAPO concluded that the police officer had not properly recorded
COM’s witness statement, and thus classified the allegation as
“Substantiated”.

When handling cases involving the visually impaired individuals, the
police should consider their physical conditions to provide
appropriate assistance, and take appropriate measures to address the
special needs for these individuals. After police officers take written
statements from visually impaired persons, these individuals often
cannot immediately verify the content of the statement without the aid
of assistive tools or devices. If, later on, the written statement is found
to differ from the oral account read by the police officer, the visually
impaired person may question the accuracy of the written statement
and may even file a complaint. Therefore, the police should conduct
video-recorded interviews to obtain statements from visually impaired
individuals as far as practicable, allowing them to give details of the
course of events and confirm the relevant content through video-
recorded interviews. Additionally, the police should enhance training
for frontline officers, reminding them to always pay attention to the
physical conditions of individuals when investigating or collecting
evidence from members of the public, so that appropriate
arrangements can be made to reduce unnecessary complaints.
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Assign a police officer of the same gender as the person involved in a police case to
take photos of any marks or injuries on sensitive body parts of the concerned person
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During case investigation, the police may need to take photos of
arrested persons or injured persons to document their features,
tattoos, or injuries. If photos involve sensitive body parts and are
taken by a police officer of the opposite gender, it may lead to
embarrassment and misunderstanding, or even result in complaints.
Below are two complaint cases related to photos taken by police
officers of the opposite gender of individuals involved in the cases.

Case 1: Taking photos of an arrested person’s tattoos

The female complainant (COM) was arrested for a case of Fraud. After
being brought to the police station, a police officer took her
fingerprints and photos in accordance with the Police General Orders
(PGO). The PGO stipulates that if an arrested person has tattoos, the
police must take photos of them for record. If the tattoos are on
sensitive areas of the body, the officer-in-charge of the case (OC Case)
should exercise discretion to determine whether photo-taking is
warranted to avoid unnecessary embarrassment.

According to the photos taken in the case, COM had pulled down a
corner of her pants to reveal a tattoo located below her belly button
when the photos were taken. Given the location of the tattoo being
close to her sensitive body parts, COM accused the male police officer
who took the photos of “Neglect of Duty” for not assigning a female
police officer to take the photos instead. The male police officer
explained that he had asked COM about the location of her tattoo at
that time, but COM indicated that the location was not a sensitive
area. Thus, he did not seek guidance from the OC Case as required by
the PGO. Initially, CAPO classified the allegation as “No Fault”.
However, following the IPCC’'s Queries, CAPO reviewed the location of
the tattoo and agreed that it may cause embarrassment to COM if the
photos are taken by a police officer of the opposite gender. In this
case, the male police officer should have sought OC Case’s discretion,
and thus reclassified the allegation as “Substantiated”.
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Case 2: Taking photos of an injured person’s sensitive body
parts

In another case, another female complainant (COM) was arrested for
“Fighting in a Public Place”. COM claimed that she was hit in the upper
abdomen, therefore she was brought to the police station where a
police officer took photos of her injuries.

COM accused the male police officer of “Neglect of Duty” for asking
her to lift her shirt to photograph her injuries in the absence of a
female police officer or a third party. According to the male police
officer’s record and the consent form signed by COM for taking photos
of her injuries, a female police officer was present to witness the
process of photographing the injuries; however, the female officer did
not make any relevant record in her police notebook. Since COM did
not respond to CAPQO’s enquiries afterwards, CAPO was unable to
clarify the details of the allegation. The allegation was eventually
classified as “Not Pursuable”.

Nevertheless, CAPO registered a count of “Substantiated Other Than
Reported” against the female police officer for her failure to record in
her notebook that she had witnessed the male police officer taking
photos of COM’s injuries.

The IPCC believes that if police officers need to take photos of the
sensitive body parts of the arrested persons or injured persons, it
should not be done by police officers of the opposite gender, even if
police officers of the same gender are present as witnesses. Upon
reviewing the two complaint cases above, the IPCC noted that the
police guidelines for handling crime cases did not specify that photos
of sensitive body parts should be taken by a police officer of the same
gender. Furthermore, police guidelines do not clearly define which
body parts are considered “sensitive”, leaving frontline police officers
having to exercise their own discretion.

In fact, CAPO’s Complaints Manual stipulates stringent procedures for
taking photos of complainants’ injuries. The relevant chapter specifies
that when taking photos of complainants’ injuries involving body parts
that are not commonly exposed, CAPO must assign an officer of the
same gender as COM to take the photos. In light of this, the IPCC
recommended that the police review the relevant guidelines with
reference to the provisions of the Complaints Manual. The police have
agreed with the IPCC's recommendation to clearly define sensitive
body parts in the relevant guidelines regarding taking photos of an
arrested person’s body marks and injuries of an injured person. If the
photography of sensitive areas of the body is deemed necessary, it
should not be taken by an officer of the opposite sex.
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Deepen police officers’ awareness of
protecting personal data privacy of the

public
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Apart from photo-taking, police officers may need to interact with
persons of the opposite gender in cases of a sensitive nature. In one
complaint case, a female complainant (COM) reported an indecent
assault case. The investigation was conducted by a male police officer.
COM was dissatisfied that during the investigation, the male police
officer told her she, if summoned to court, might be asked many
embarrassing questions. COM deemed the male police officer’s
handling of the situation inappropriate, but the male officer denied the
allegation. Due to a lack of independent evidence, the allegation was
eventually classified as “Unsubstantiated”.

Although CAPO could not reach a definite finding for this allegation,
the IPCC believes that the police should from time to time remind
frontline officers that when handling sexual offence-related cases, the
victims should as far as practicable be contacted and handled by
police officers of the same gender, who should maintain sensitivity
and compassion. To address this, the police have proactively
increased internal promulgation, training and education to raise
awareness among frontline officers, aiming to avoid adverse effects on
the persons involved in police cases and to reduce unnecessary
complaints.

E#EFE /R Mock-up photo

In today’s society, the discipline and conduct of police officers are
essential for maintaining public trust in the police force. The police
have all along placed a high value on the integrity of their officers and
have strict standards for their behaviour, as each officer's actions
reflect the image of the entire police force in the eyes of the public.
Therefore, it has long been the police’s focus to ensure that police
officers adhere to appropriate code of conduct while discharging their
duties, particularly regarding the use of personal data of the public.
According to the PGO, personal data collected from the public by
police officers in connection with performing policing duties must
solely be used for work-related purposes and never for private
purposes.
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However, a recent complaint case involved a police officer who had
breached the guideline by inappropriately using personal data of a
member of the public. In this case, a female complainant (COM)
provided her personal data to a police officer for record when she
made a report to the police. Yet, the police officer subsequently
contacted COM privately using her phone number, hoping to befriend
her. COM later lodged a complaint with CAPO regarding the officer’s
“Misconduct”. After investigation, CAPO confirmed that the police
officer had breached the PGO and therefore classified the allegation
as “Substantiated”. Due to the severity of the misconduct committed
by the officer, who was still serving on probationary terms at the time,
the force terminated his service in accordance with Civil Service
Regulation 186.

The IPCC emphasises that the nature of such complaints is very
serious; and the police resolutely adopt a zero-tolerance attitude
towards this type of misconduct. In the past, the IPCC had
recommended the police to formulate internal measures and
guidelines to remind police officers that they must respect the
personal data privacy of the public, use the data appropriately, and
never use them at will.

The police understand that the public expectations regarding the
conduct and integrity of the police force have been rising in recent
years, and they view the personal integrity of officers as one of their
core values. At the same time, the police management regularly
reminds supervisory officers at all levels to emphasise the importance
of integrity to frontline officers, urging them to maintain a high level of
vigilance regarding their integrity and conduct at all times, comply
with laws and regulations, and provide appropriate supervision to
their subordinates. On this basis, the IPCC recommended that the
police further implement measures beyond established procedures
and policies to deepen police officers’ awareness of personal data
protection, ensuring that all officers adhere to the internal guidelines
and are fully aware of the severe consequences of any misconduct. It
is hoped that these measures can effectively avoid recurrence of
similar incidents and strengthen public confidence in the police force.

These efforts not only demonstrate the police’s accountability to the
public, but also serve as an important step in police’s ongoing
commitment to enhancing service quality and maintaining public trust.
The IPCC supports the police in their continued efforts to enhance
training and oversight of their officers, ensuring that they adhere to
the standards of the police force while performing their duties.
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To enhance the design of the property record form to better distinguish
the signing areas of both the police officer and the detainee, as to
confirm the seizure and the return of the properties.

EEWITEEIINEZBEERR
(Pol. 1123)

To promulgate the revised Custody Search Form (Pol. 1123).
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To enhance the guidelines on the appropriate transportation for
arrested persons with physical disabilities.
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Handling of Police Reports
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To review the guidelines on taking photos of any marks or tattoos on
sensitive areas of arrested persons.

To devise measures to facilitate police officers’ assessment of reports
involving transfer of money by mistake.
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To devise measures to ensure frontline officers accurately record and
relay the locations involved when handling case reports to prevent
wrong deployment of police officer and delay in police enforcement
action.
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To enhance the knowledge of police communications officers, in
particular the offences and reports that are under police’s purview.
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Traffic Case Related
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To remind frontline officers to consult and report to their respective
supervisors when handling borderline cases that may or may not be
classified as crimes, and to classify the cases accordingly.

To review the proforma of the final letter to victim/informant of traffic
case to clearly indicate the time of receipt of traffic accident cases.

10
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To enhance the guidelines on informing vehicle owners to reclaim
towed vehicles.

11
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To remind frontline officers that upon finding defects on a vehicle, they
should take photos immediately at the scene and submit the photos to
Transport Department together with the Defective Vehicle Report form.
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Communication with the Public

To issue reminder to formations/units which may use WhatsApp for
receiving digital information from the public to set up automatic reply
message in WhatsApp emphasising that the WhatsApp number
concerned is not for communication or enquiry; and to comply with the
Data Protection Principles of the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance,
police order and guidelines when handling the digital information or
personal data received from the public.
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To remind frontline officers the procedures of handling Mentally
Incapacitated Persons.
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EmicEMic
Police Notebook Records
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To enhance the communication skills and professionalism of officers
when dealing with members of the public, including the proper use of
personal data collected during official duties.

To remind frontline officers to make sufficiently detailed police
notebook record when performing their daily duties.

REEATAR A BT S| BIIEH G
THEEERTERCEMP O
SIFBYER o

HMIRIFE R
CAPO Related

16

RERFERIANBBRERFAH
17 DE&FMOME - BHRE FEKRAE
MEBYRE ©

VI I ARG

Equipment Enhancement

BRESEARALTHNERBGEE
WERE o

18

BRAEAEM@
Police Interview Related

Vi
19

B ARRGEA TS @SS

BRAME S AR

RERMGAEENTASERES
Ry 5B AR 1 FE P 98 5 1R i o

20

To remind frontline officers of recording relevant legislation on the
police notebook after exercising police power under Mental Health
Ordinance.

To remind CAPO officers that they must record the reason when a
supervisor is not available to countersign a complainant’s withdrawal
statement.

To recommend that telephone conversations between the police and
members of the public are audio recorded.

To review the guidelines on interviewing visually impaired persons.

Body Worn Video Camera Related

To remind frontline officers to actively use Body Worn Video Camera in
day-to-day policing situations.
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Stakeholder Engagement

BEHE2HEER  BEEEE2023/24F
ERBEEZTIENES  BESFKME
HHEM - REHMAA > EHEMN2 A
40IREE) - ZEEBE 11,0008 mE -~ &0
£ UKRES - BFE - HERANEXERE
SRRAVE

BT MBARKEEE THENMERBR
FRERFERNRHEIN > FHHNEF i
BRERMALE HEET—HEELE
ZanhREERHFANENNEE 5
—HETEARFNERRG S FERY
MERZ > MABEMERREARTER
BRI RIR

Ak BEFSERT
YouTubesgid « HI% 5 R BRI -
RARRIEEEWR o

FLERABEE

As society returned to normalcy, the IPCC proactively engaged with
stakeholders through a diverse range of face-to-face activities in
2023/24. During the reporting period, the IPCC organised and
participated in 40 activities, engaging with over 11,000 members of
the public, teachers and students, as well as representatives of the
police, media, education and professional groups.

In addition to promoting public awareness of the IPCC’s work and the
two-tier police complaints system, the Council continued to focus its
publicity efforts on two major areas. First, the IPCC expounded on the
rights and responsibilities of complainants to the general public on
various occasions. Second, the IPCC illustrated to different
stakeholders how the improvement initiatives put forward by the
Council help enhance the service quality of the police and reduce
unnecessary complaints.

At the same time, the IPCC disseminated its latest information across
various platforms, including its website, YouTube channel and
publications, in order to stay connected with the public.

Youth and educational organisations

BE

BREEH2016F 11 BHHKRESE > 7
HEFRAMAERR « PEMNENEE
ZENITHEMNEBNMNEREBRFE RS
E 5| BFF-—NERAURE TUEBBRERK
BIMBERL UESETHEOAB N
BV ERHIRE o

REFETAEESZ D BREBERE
MBABEE > WESTRERNAEE
BoBANERMEK ERETBBEBT
FERBEETERHESER  BINEE
BB M ROk ©

School Programme

Since the launch of its School Programme in November 2016, the
IPCC has visited numerous local tertiary institutions, as well as
secondary and primary schools. At the visits, the Council introduced
its work and the two-tier police complaints system in Hong Kong to
students. The aim was to guide the younger generation to think with
an “evidence-based” approach, and to understand what is an effective
complaints system.

The School Programme offers rich and diverse activities, including
talks, exhibitions and game booths, to cater to the varied educational
needs of different schools. During the talks, the IPCC made use of
technology in engaging students in real-time quiz over a digital
platform for a more interactive and fun-filled learning experience.
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In addition, the Council visited the Caritas Institute of Community
Education during the reporting period. Vetting team representatives
shared their firsthand experiences in handling complaint cases with
students from the Diploma Yi Jin Programme in Police Force Practice,
enabling them to better understand the complaint vetting process,
challenges faced by frontline police officers, and public expectations.

In 2023/24, the IPCC held a total of 28 school activities, engaging
over 9,000 teachers and students to provide them with an overview of
the work of the IPCC.
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¥ h B L& E &% &YouTubesE &
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HEE -

IPCC educational video

To more effectively introduce the role and functions of the IPCC to the
younger generation, the Council produced a brand-new 3D-animated
educational video during the reporting period. The video conveys the
IPCC’s core values to young people in a lively and interesting manner
to facilitate their understanding of the principles of and procedures for
vetting complaint cases.

The video is available on the IPCC’s YouTube channel (www.youtube.
com/user/ipccchannel) for public viewing.

ErZ@YouTubesdid
IPCC YouTube channel
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Y FEBERR Engaging with educational organisations

BIEFFEALENEER > RARERE  While it is crucial to foster proper values in the younger generation
REZ > BEHEIHFEETEEZEEMNI  through school engagement activities, deepening education workers’
EREep TRRAREE - HIb > BEE&MEME  understanding of the work and mission of the IPCC is just as
HARHEEBEE > mMMABRES  important. To this end, the IPCC proactively engaged with different
BMEHBNIERBENAREH > #F1E  educational organisations to explain how the School Programme
BIEBRM - EEBILBELENHLEHR  strengthens students’ awareness of their civic responsibilities. The
iz 30 goal is to join hands to support the future pillars of our society in
developing independent thinking with sound judgement.

2023 5H25H
25 May 2023

EEEZEMREAENWERSEREEARE
“hENHEEREAE S REFSNZTEN Y B
BRAURY  BEBFEEFFE—ANZAEREZR
7 WEBBET RRFARNRES -

Mr Ivan Sze Wing-hang (IPCC Member) and
Mr Daniel Mui (Secretary-General) met with
education specialists from Tung Wah Group of
Hospitals (TWGHs). By introducing the diversified
modes, goals, and outcomes of the Council’s
School Programme, the IPCC looks forward to
collaborating with TWGHs to cultivate the younger
generation’s ability to think from multiple
perspectives, and to help students understand the
rights and responsibilities of complainants.

20235108318
31 October 2023

EEgNEERE T AETRRE AHAERAL o AR
MEESNRENE BT R RRE ey
BT » DUR A B T A1 S S B o

The IPCC met with the Hong Kong Education
Workers Union to promote the Council’s School
Programme to the education sector. The aim is to
deepen students’ knowledge of the IPCC's work
and the two-tier police complaints system in Hong
Kong.
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The police

AEET ARV MBREEBERFERS  To maintain an effective two-tier police complaints system, the IPCC
B> g NEKSHBFHA—BERIFTEEE hasremained in close communication with various departments in the
B BMEGRTHEHRMWMFEHIN > police force. In addition to organising exchange activities with the
NEHEXARREN > THAGFLEHFAE police, the Council visited various police units to understand the
EHNSEDE > BB EZLSEER challenges faced by frontline officers, and to closely follow up on the
KEZNESEZWEE - BRI INEBR)  progress of the police’s implementation of the SQlls. These firsthand
ELgRE2EERKNRER > BRERET experiences have enabled IPCC Members to examine the complaint
KSR AT RIEREIE o cases with a holistic approach, ensuring that each complaint is
handled fairly and impartially.

BEGNERFETFEFANTEEWT - The engagement activities between the IPCC and the police during the
year were as follows:

20234 5H11H
11 May 2023

TEETIRTREZENWERBEMNTKERE
RBE > THKENSIELIF  BIKEAEEELR
HRZERETHRFEHAN T EDE - MUk &ME
BN A SOE M TIFRIBRY ©

Ms Priscilla Wong Pui-sze (Council Chairman), IPCC
Members and Secretariat staff visited the Marine
Regional Headquarters. During the visit, the
delegation learned about their work, the challenges
faced by frontline Marine police officers as they
perform their duties at sea and undertake rescue
operations, and the latest technologies that
enhance the effectiveness of law enforcement
actions and training for officers.
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2023%F7H25H
25 July 2023

FTRETSLLIHEA—REENMNWEERE  BE
BRERMREGSEXAETE  MEHRERFD
THMER -

Ms Priscilla Wong Pui-sze (Council Chairman),
together with Council Members and Secretariat
staff, attended a luncheon with the Commissioner
of Police and senior police officers to exchange
views on the police’s work in handling complaints.

2023%F1086H
6 October 2023

FEEHTFLL s —REEMUWE RHE R IL
FEBAREBABM  TRUOMNEEIE &
BEREZERTNAEMBRERERNDEHMFMTE
UEBEMAAELRNBERER  BLEE—TER
FEENAERBESNIOEDMBEINTEE
TSR ERE I F H RETRTE ©

An IPCC delegation of Council Members and
Secretariat staff, led by Ms Priscilla Wong Pui-sze
(Council Chairman), met with frontline police
officers of the Emergency Unit (EU) New Territories
North to learn about the EU’s daily work. The EU
presented two scenario demonstrations, based on
real domestic violence and armed robbery cases,
so that the delegation could better understand how
the EU races against time in assessing situations
and making precise deployment and strategic
judgements at critical junctures.
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Other organisations

2023458240
24 May 2023

ELSRAGRERNE E@AIRELI52A
WERITIFAR - ZREBZREGZERABRT
FSFEABRL L » LIRME RIBERRLE > RAKEN
MEBNMERBRAERGE  LEABEHUM
BBRFERNESERZME > B AU ERRE > I
RAZEBERBER - ARETEGH D ERFHEE
BYBE LB M A By E R B o

The IPCC received a delegation of 15 Mainland legal
officials who participated in the Common Law
Training Scheme organised by the Department of
Justice. Ms Jane Curzon Lo and Ms Cindi Hui Ming-
ming (Members of the Legal Committee), together
with Mr Daniel Mui (Secretary-General), introduced
the two-tier police complaints system in Hong Kong
and explained how the IPCC’s SQIl mechanism can
help reduce unnecessary complaints and enhance
the service quality of the police. The delegates also
shared with the Council the law enforcement
experiences of various agencies and information
about the legal system in the Mainland.

202358H10H
10 August 2023

B ESERES  BNEE (T8) AR RL LA
BNEE (BE) HEML T HERERARTEE
TR ARGEMNBELENAS « WERERN
TEHE UGS EEAEKELNEEEEN

Er o

Mr Daniel Mui (Secretary-General), Ms Regina Lau
(Deputy Secretary-General, Operations), and Ms
Patricia Woo (Deputy Secretary-General,
Management) attended the Eastern District Fight
Crime Committee meeting, during which they
introduced the role of the IPCC, the two-tier police
complaints system, and the SQlls proposed to the
police by the Council in recent years.
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2023%12817H
17 December 2023

EESEREEASETZEERFE > 2 TREmMFE
REPFLEEREEARELRFET2023) - HFET
ERFEE L BERBUBSNREE  ARNEE
ZERETERAE - MERBRFERHENERF U
R ARNERS - BEEGRS|BIE1,0002HE

\\\\\\\

The IPCC was invited by the Eastern District Fight
Crime Committee to participate in the Eastern
District Fight Crime Beat Drug and Support
Rehabilitation cum Promotion of Basic Law Carnival
2023. Through game booths and exhibition, the
IPCC introduced the public to the Council’s
statutory functions, the operation of the two-tier
police complaints system, and the rights and
responsibilities of complainants. The carnival
attracted more than 1,000 participants and
received an overwhelming response.
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Open meetings

REHRR BEZEER2023F68208
9B 198128128 M20244%3819
HRERHFERREHBTHRBESZ -
BMEEERRELAHISDETRAEERS
B MRADREEH TN -

RFERRENRNGF LERRHRFH
Fo U ARBEINFEERETN R > BF
EREHMERBIRBENEE - BKER
MBS RIEAREBHHESTE
MR B B ANFT BT B 4 L BR R AVHE I o

During the reporting period, the IPCC held four joint meetings with
CAPO on 20 June, 19 September, and 12 December 2023, and 19
March 2024. To enhance awareness of the Council’s work, part of
each meeting was open to the public and the media.

During the four meetings, CAPO reported the latest complaint figures
and discussed matters of public concern. Topics discussed included
the structure and duties of the Hong Kong Auxiliary Police Force, the
recent trend in technology crime, the policing of large-scale festive
events, and measures to prevent and combat new online scams.
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During the reporting period, Council Chairman, Members and
representatives of the Secretariat met with the media on various
occasions to keep the public informed of the Council’s latest work and
to address media enquiries.

The IPCC also promotes public awareness of its roles and statutory
functions through various publications. At the news conference in
December 2023, Ms Priscilla Wong Pui-sze (Council Chairman),
accompanied by Mr Clement Chan Kam-wing (then Chairman of the
Publicity and Community Relations Committee) and Mr Daniel Mui
(Secretary-General), presented the Report 2022/23. Council Chairman
summarised the key complaint statistics, complaint trends and
achievements of the IPCC in the past year.

(i)llE BYERESRERFESY

Independent Police Complaints Council

Driving Change, Building Trust Together
Fhue XEBEEE

Pid
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The Council

BEEERB(EE RO B
EHE EFE ZUREENEZE2EH
THREZE -ZEREBWNT

The IPCC is an independent statutory body established under the
IPCCO. The Chairman, three Vice-Chairmen and Members are all
appointed by the Chief Executive. The membership of the IPCC is as
follows:

& Chairman

Tzt SBS P
Ms Priscilla WONG Pui-sze, SBS, JP

BJEFE Vice-Chairmen

{E#A Appointment

2021FE681H#E
Since 1 June 2021

{EHA Appointment

S5ER=EE > GBS - JP
Hon Frankie YICK Chi-ming, GBS, JP

BRIRIEEES  BBS » JP
Hon Ronick CHAN Chun-ying, BBS, JP

BkE&E » BBS P
Hon Jimmy NG Wing-ka, BBS, JP

Z 8 Members

BERHEREEGTFE

Serious Complaints Committee Chairman
BEREMEEE

Case Vetting Sub-group Chairman

ERSZIMEEFE
Case Vetting Sub-group Chairman

BEEZEERE
Case Vetting Sub-group Chairman

2019F1818#E
Since 1 January 2019

20214181 8%
Since 1 January 2021

2021F181H#E
Since 1 January 2021

{EHA Appointment

*

82

BBk 2 A
Mr Wilson KWONG Wing-tsuen

BREZE 21 5 P
Miss Mabel CHAN Mei-bo, JP

PRemes 4 » BBS > MH 5 JP
Mr Clement CHAN Kam-wing, BBS, MH, JP

FR IEfriE+ » BBS > MH
Dr Daniel CHAN Ching-yan, BBS, MH

MIEEEE
Prof LIN Feng

PRIEEE oA
Mr CHAN Chak-ming

BERZEEETRE ((ERE2024F5815)
Management Committee Chairman
(Until May 2024)

BIRHEGEFE ((FHAH202447 AiD)
Management Committee Chairman
(Since July 2024)

EERMBHFREESER
(EERZE20245F581E)

Publicity and Community Relations
Committee Chairman (Until May 2024)

EERTEEGEEEERE
(EHBER202457 BiE)

Publicity and Community Relations
Committee Chairman (Since July 2024)

BIFRIEFEAZREE TR
(EHAZE 202448 1)

Operations Advisory Committee Chairman
(Until August 2024)

EERIEFERNEEGTT
(1FHAFA2024FE8 F1E) *

Operations Advisory Committee Chairman
(Since August 2024)*

FEEBEEETR
Legal Committee Chairman

BRIEARIE L > BBS » MHX 2024 F 8 HHEEERIZFEHALEGIF » WHMIEBHIZZE -
Dr Daniel CHAN Ching-yan, BBS, MH reached the end of his tenure as Chairman of the Operations Advisory Committee in August 2024

and was succeeded by Prof LIN Feng.
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2016FE6H1HZE2024F5831H
From 1 June 2016 to
31 May 2024

2021F1818#E
Since 1 January 2021

2016FE6H1BZE2024F5831H
From 1 June 2016 to
31 May 2024

2021181 8#E
Since 1 January 2021

202341818
Since 1 January 2023

2023F1818#E
Since 1 January 2023
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4B4%284%  Organisational Structure

{EHA Appointment

PREREYStE L » SBS > MH » P

Dr Anissa CHAN WONG Lai-kuen, SBS, MH, JP

EFxRHBRE P
Mr Roland WONG Ka-yeung, JP

EORFE o MH 2 JP
Mr LEE Man-bun, MH, JP

BIEL L BBS P

Ms Jane Curzon LO, BBS, JP
REENL T 5 SBS

Mrs Helen YU LAI Ching-ping, SBS

REMELE > MH > P
Mr Randy YU Hon-kwan, MH, JP

STEARAZ £

Ms Cindi HUI Ming-ming

fre BB 4

Dr Desmond NGUYEN Gia-hung

MR A E > BBS 2 JP
Mr Ivan SZE Wing-hang, BBS, JP

2018FE6B1HZ=E2024%5831H
From 1 June 2018 to
31 May 2024

2018FE6H1HZE2024%E5831H
From 1 June 2018 to
31 May 2024

2019F181H#E
Since 1 January 2019

201918 18#E
Since 1 January 2019

201998 4HE2023F943H
From 4 September 2019 to
3 September 2023

20211818
Since 1 January 2021

2023F1818#E
Since 1 January 2023

2023F181H#E
Since 1 January 2023

2023F181HiE
Since 1 January 2023
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BFHR 1 2023F 4 BE2024%38

IPCC Members’ Attendance at In-house Meetings  rerod: April 2023 to March 2024

BEEGEFFETABEE > HEREZEES  The IPCC holds in-house meetings every quarter for the full Council to
REEENANMIF-WAEFTE > MEE  discuss internal matters. Special in-house meeting would be held
FRSRIRNTE & o when necessary.
® HfF Attended O T£f% Did notattend N/A T2 &AL E Not a Member of the Meeting
2023 2024
Hagy
9B5H 1285H 3B5H Total
5 Sep 5 Dec 5 Mar
X/ Chairman
FomsFL L > SBS 5 JP
[ J ([ ([ ([
Ms Priscilla WONG Pui-sze, SBS, JP 4/4
BlEFE Vice-Chairmen
Z5E%E 0 GBS v JP
[ J ([ J ([ O
Hon Frankie YICK Chi-ming, GBS, P 3/4
PRIRZEEERE » BBS 2 JP . o ° ® o 24
Hon Ronick CHAN Chun-ying, BBS, JP
BxEHS » BBS P
O ([ J ([ O
Hon Jimmy NG Wing-ka, BBS, JP 2/4
Z &8 Members
BRI A
Mr Wilson KWONG Wing-tsuen ¢ ¢ ¢ ¢ 4/4
PREZZ L P
Miss Mabel CHAN Mei-bo, JP ¢ ® ® ° 4/4
PREFES S » BBS MH - JP
Mr Clement CHAN Kam-wing, BBS, MH, JP ¢ = @ @ 3/4
FRIEfRIE L » BBS » MH
Dr Daniel CHAN Ching-yan, BBS, MH ¢ © ® ® 44
M2
Prof LIN Feng = © ¢ - 2/4
PROEER
Mr CHAN Chak-ming ¢ - ® - 2/4
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tag
Total
PREREYSTE L » SBS» MH » JP
Dr Anissa CHAN WONG Lai-kuen, SBS, MH, P~ © ~ o o 4/n
EFRBFRE P
Mr Roland WONG Ka-yeung, JP - e L o 3/4
EXGHAE 0 MH P
Mr LEE Man-bun, MH, JP © ® ° ° 2/4
wILELZLBBS P . - . . »

Ms Jane Curzon LO, BBS, JP

REENL L > SBS*
Mrs Helen YU LAl Ching-ping, SBS* ¢ N/A N/A N/A o4

FOBMSE > MH > JP

Mr Randy YU Hon-kwan, MH, JP ® ® ® ® 4/4
PRRRR L £
Ms Cindi HUI Ming-ming ¢ = ° ° 4/4
REE L
Dr Desmond NGUYEN Gia-hung ¢ ° ° ° 4/t
MEERE e > BBS 5 JP - . . . »

Mr lvan SZE Wing-hang, BBS, JP

* {FHAE 2023498 3H
* Until 3 September 2023
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EEENRFERRMEERHELR
IPCC Members’ Attendance at Joint IPCC/CAPO Meetings

BFEA D 2023F 4 BE2024F 38
Period: April 2023 to March 2024

® {HfF Attended O f£f# Did notattend N/A N2 &AL E Not a Member of the Meeting

2023 2024
6820H 9H19H 12812H 3H19H

20 Jun 19 Sep 12 Dec 19 Mar

FomsFd > SBS 2 JP
[ ) @ o o
Ms Priscilla WONG Pui-sze, SBS, JP i

58 > GBS » JP

Hon Frankie YICK Chi-ming, GBS, JP ¢ ¢ ¢ - 3/4
PRSI B85, P . . . - "
on Ronick CHAN Chun-ying, BBS, JP
ﬁ!‘oﬂ;l(%mi%NGB \Ej\ing”l)(a BBS, JP ¢ - ¢ - 2/4
BAMembers
)I%\Brﬁ\jvﬁi%lijKWONG Wing-tsuen e e e e 4/4
ﬁii%fb:‘ezl ’CJHPAN Mei-bo, JP ® . ® ® 3/4
ﬁﬁfﬁeﬁ cﬁiﬁ Kgﬂnljwjlr}?g BBS, MH, JP ¢ = ¢ e 3/4
Blji}%gfljél-]ABNBa;ir’:A;yan, BBS, MH ¢ ¢ ¢ ¢ 414
ﬁﬁﬁ:ﬁeng - ¢ ° ° 3/
ﬁ%ﬁfis%hak-ming - ¢ ¢ ¢ 3/4
86 Independent Police Complaints Council * Report 2023/24



BAHE Chapters
4B4%284%  Organisational Structure

2023 2024
L
98198 128128 38190 Total
19 Sep 12 Dec 19 Mar
EBREL > SBS > MH > JP
Dr Anissa CHAN WONG Lai-kuen, SBS, MH, JP ° ° o 2/4
FXRIGILE P
Mr Roland WONG Ka-yeung, JP ¢ ® ® ° 4/4
RS EE > MH 2 JP
Mr LEE Man-bun, MH, JP - ® ® ° 3/4
#IELLT > BBS P - o . . »

Ms Jane Curzon LO, BBS, JP

REENL L > SBS*
Mrs Helen YU LAl Ching-ping, SBS* ¢ N/A N/A N/A L

FOBMSE > MH > JP

Mr Randy YU Hon-kwan, MH, JP ® © 1 o 3/4
SPRRBAL £
Ms Cindi HUI Ming-ming ¢ Q ° ° 3/4
REE L
Dr Desmond NGUYEN Gia-hung - . o o 1/4
MRS » BBS o P . - . . »

Mr lvan SZE Wing-hang, BBS, JP

* {FHAE 2023498 3H
*  Until 3 September 2023
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Committees

BEEZENAZENE  BRRHFHER
RERHBERS o LS EEGHRARE
THEBRULTLEFEEZES > UESE
BRI EITIREE

AERESE R REEN NS BN
T

Members of the IPCC are divided into three groups to examine
investigation reports submitted by CAPO. The IPCC has also set up five
Committees so as to perform its functions more efficiently.

The terms of reference and members of the five Committees are as
follows:

BRERFEREZST
Serious Complaints Committee

Terms of reference

s E

(a) STE %R > AURCMEEE GERN
BEER;

(b) B SR E Bo B8 AR E AR A B SR A0S B AR
s

(O FRRERESRIUNELER /R

%o Tfﬁﬂb%ﬁ&uﬁﬁﬁ ;

(d BRBRERFEENRAEER > LEE
Jﬁ;EHjLa% b

() REZEEFAEEL
BRAERMRERER T tRE

BB R EIREF
GERE -

F% & Membership

T
SEHEE > GBS 5 JP

=8
FRERE8 %4 > BBS » MH » P (202445 F1F)
R RERTE L > SBS » MH » JP 2024455 1F)
FRIRHEES » BBS 2 JP (20246 5#E)
ERAE 0 MH 0 JP

f&IEfRtE+ > BBS » MH

BREZx7L P

(a) To determine the criteria of serious cases that should come under
the monitoring of the Committee;

(b) To examine and determine special procedures for monitoring
serious complaints;

(c) To examine the need to seek outside professional advice / service
to facilitate the scrutiny of complaint cases;

(d)To examine the findings of serious complaint cases after
investigation has been completed and put forward its
recommendations to the Chairman;

(e) To put forward any issues in relation to the monitoring of serious
complaint cases for the IPCC's deliberation as the Committee
deems appropriate.

Chairman
Hon Frankie YICK Chi-ming, GBS, JP

Members

Mr Clement CHAN Kam-wing, BBS, MH, P (until May 2024)

Dr Anissa CHAN WONG Lai-kuen, SBS, MH, P until May 2024)
Hon Ronick CHAN Chun-ying, BBS, JP (Since June 2024)

Mr LEE Man-bun, MH, JP

Dr Daniel CHAN Ching-yan, BBS, MH

Miss Mabel CHAN Mei-bo, JP

RS S Mr CHAN Chak-ming

STERRRZ + Ms Cindi HUI Ming-ming

N EE 26 Prof LIN Feng

e 2 B B A4 Dr Desmond NGUYEN Gia-hung
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BEERIEHFZEESS
Publicity and Community Relations Committee

F% & Membership

T Chairmen

PREFERE A4 > BBS » MH » JP (20244 551F)  Mr Clement CHAN Kam-wing, BBS, MH, P (Until May 2024)
FRIEARIE L » BBS » MH (2024 % 7 A#E) Dr Daniel CHAN Ching-yan, BBS, MH (Since july 2024)
&= Members

SRIBEFR L > SBS (2023F951F) Mrs Helen YU LAI Ching-ping, SBS (Until September 2023)
fREZZL 0 JP Miss Mabel CHAN Mei-bo, JP

SFRARAZ £+ Ms Cindi HUI Ming-ming

TxEEL Dr Desmond NGUYEN Gia-hung

MEgsIE %4 - BBS o JP Mr Ivan SZE Wing-hang, BBS, JP
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EBZ8Y
Management Committee

R

(@

EERTINERNIETIF,

(b) BFAHAE

— BERENEMANS ;
-~ BENERKEREBEZIMEBR

METE BREERINEBENS
£~ FRRELEER

- HEEERBAMTENTIETH

EH;
fAsHEE2S BT U LEUREMIERR
LIPS BFREEER
RtEFEEEEERANGIN
mE

(O REZEEIHBEENERTHKRER

EE > HEEEEE -

F% 8 Membership

S

Rk SR 44 (2024465 F1F)
MREBL L > |P 002447 F7E)

=8

FXRBHhE 0 P 02445 F1F)
RREEL T > SBS Q0234 9A51F)

BRI

HEE8 > BBS JP

FXRAmE > MH > JP
B2+ > BBS P
BRIEfI®L > BBS » MH
FOEEIE > MH - JP

Terms of reference
(a) To oversee major areas of work of the Secretariat;
(b) To consider and approve:

— any changes to the annual budget;

— appointment, interdiction from duty, and termination of
employment of employees at Assistant Secretary-General and
Senior Vetting Officer/Senior Research Officer/Senior Manager
ranks;

— key administrative matters that affect the services of IPCC;

— proposed new contracts with estimated value above $250,000
or covering a new area of activity, with the exception of those
contracts or activities which come under the purview of the
Publicity and Community Relations Committee;

(c) To put forward any administrative and management issues for the
IPCC’s deliberation as the Committee deems appropriate.

Chairmen

Mr Wilson KWONG Wing-tsuen (Until May 2024)
Miss Mabel CHAN Mei-bo, JP (Since july 2024)

Members

Mr Roland WONG Ka-yeung, JP (Until May 2024)

Mrs Helen YU LAI Ching-ping, SBS (Until September 2023)
Hon Ronick CHAN Chun-ying, BBS, JP

Mr LEE Man-bun, MH, JP

Ms Jane Curzon LO, BBS, JP

Dr Daniel CHAN Ching-yan, BBS, MH

Mr Randy YU Hon-kwan, MH, JP

Ms Cindi HUI Ming-ming

STERRRZ +
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BIERIEFEHES Y

Operations Advisory Committee

He B [E]
() REERRBRAERE N  ANTR

Terms of reference

(@) To advise the Secretariat on general issues and matters of

AR ARR B R E N A AR BB ZE LA
KRR E RN EREMELEN—RE
BREBFEAWEREHER » UK
FEEBRTFEER HEEEE

)

@

b ERFERR G EREANTFEES
% URIESLESRERETEREE
THEER

O RWEREZ BEARSE  RA
MWEBRHIEFRHEER > TEBEER
ERERFHER  UBHRARNRKRSF
BRETFRZ (BEREEETMEE
RFTPENEBEIRE) - LUE—P R
BEEEERBZREFBINRRA ; X
RBIEMZERWERANHEETTER
BERFM EHFFM o FRIE
Fr~ Bk rRIER BAE R EE
SIFRFEZBVEE » WEBE B R TF
s HEEEERE

(AR EESIRELEETIFFIRBANAR
SEAMEREHER  TEBEEBR

significant importance arising from the scrutiny and examination of
Reportable  Complaints (RC), Notifiable Complaints (NC)
categorisation and cases resolved by Expression of Dissatisfaction
Mechanism as well as monitoring actions on Service Quality
Improvement Initiatives, and, where it deems appropriate, make
recommendations for the IPCC’s consideration;

(b) To co-ordinate Working Level Meetings (WLM) with CAPO and

nominate IPCC Members to chair the WLM;

(c) Upon review, observation or report of the Secretariat, to advise on

the existing police complaint process and, where appropriate and
necessary, make recommendations to streamline the existing
workflows for complaint handling, from the intake to disposal of
complaints, with a view to further improving the efficiency and
effectiveness of the IPCC case examination process; and to this end
it will be consulted by the Secretariat on the review of the IPCC
Vetting Manual, police manuals, orders, standing procedures,
instructions or guidelines which are related to complaints or
complaints handling, and, where it deems appropriate, make
recommendations for the IPCC’s consideration;

(d) To advise the Secretariat on research projects and studies to be

undertaken by the Secretariat in relation to the work of IPCC, and,

where it deems appropriate, make recommendations for the IPCC’s
consideration.

TEHER > HETEETE -

F% & Membership

TP Chairmen

FRIEARIE L » BBS > MH (2024 £ 8 A1F) Dr Daniel CHAN Ching-yan, BBS, MH (ntil August 2024)
MIBHIR (2024 E£8 FE) Prof LIN Feng (Since August 2024)

3= Members

FRERES A4 » BBS » MH » JP (2024 F 5 5.1F)
REEFF 7L 0 SBS 2023F9F1F)

Mr Clement CHAN Kam-wing, BBS, MH, P (Until May 2024)
Mrs Helen YU LAl Ching-ping, SBS (Until September 2023)

PREZZ L 7 JP Miss Mabel CHAN Mei-bo, JP
FEMAE 0 MH P Mr Randy YU Hon-kwan, MH, JP

PSR 4 Mr CHAN Chak-ming

STERBRZZ (2024 %7 B EE) Ms Cindi HUI Ming-ming (Since July 2024)
oo EE 4 Dr Desmond NGUYEN Gia-hung

Mg IE 4 > BBS 2 JP

Mr Ivan SZE Wing-hang, BBS, JP

B SRESRIBRAEZEE o 2023/24TERS 91




EREEHEET

Legal Committee

FX & Membership

S
BRE ST

=8

Bk 824 (002445 ALF)
SkE=%E > BBS o JP

B B&L > BBS P

Chairman
Mr CHAN Chak-ming

Members

Mr Wilson KWONG Wing-tsuen (Until May 2024)
Hon Jimmy NG Wing-ka, BBS, JP

Ms Jane Curzon LO, BBS, JP

STRARAZZ & Ms Cindi HUI Ming-ming
MU Prof LIN Feng
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BE8

Observers

FHRRBEHE T ®REBBERYEZEMES  Under the Observers Scheme, the Secretary for Security may appoint

BATHEEEEZEERE > MHEZEEE  persons deemed fit as IPCC Observers to assist the Council in

ZGHERRRENBAEAEREZTFNTS  observing the manner in which CAPO handles and investigates

o MEHAN > BFEGHREMEZENT ©  Reportable Complaints. The following is a list of Observers in the
current reporting period:

BxmERE Name of Observers

1 fESESTE Mr BOU Shing-ip
° 2 BE&HzLMH P Ms CHAN Hang, MH, JP
3 MREEXL)P Ms Jenny CHAN Heung-lin, JP
4 VEEE L Dr Terence CHAN Ho-wah
5 BRXRESRLE > MH Mr Calvin CHAN Ka-wai, MH
6 BREHLE Mr Edwin CHAN Kin-bong
7  PBRE®RE4 > SBS P Dr Eugene CHAN Kin-keung, SBS, JP
° 8 [REAENSA Mr CHAN Ming-kan
9 MBEELE Mr Tony CHAN Tung-ngok
10 MBRERKE Mr CHAN Wai-chuen
11 BR=E=E&R4E Mr CHAN Wing-fung
12 PRAECEZER > MH > JP Prof CHAN Yuk-kit, MH, JP
e 13 [EE5h&E P Mr Calvin CHAU, JP
o 14 PBEEXRE Mr Danny CHAU Chun-tat
15 EREE AL Mr CHENG Ming-git
o 16 FEBARMIELE > MH Mr Mathew CHENG Muk-lam, MH
17 EBAIEELE > MH > JP Dr Baldwin CHENG Shing-fung, MH, JP
18 EPAEPREEL > MH Dr Edwin CHENG Shing-lung, MH
e 19 HEREE Mr Henry CHENG Wai-hong
o 20 REWRL Ms CHEUNG Hing-ling
o 21 ERXEEL Dr Marcella CHEUNG Man-ka
22 REERXLL P Mrs Peggy CHEUNG Po-yee, JP
23 REREL Dr CHEUNG Wah-keung
24 SRIREESLA 0 MH Mr CHEUNG Yam-lung, MH
25 K EEE Mr Gordon CHIN Shing-hoi
26 FOKEESE Mr Wilkie CHOI Wing-kee
27 HEWZL Ms Katina CHONG Chui-shan
28 HERELL+ Ms Christina CHONG Dong-ying
® 29 R&FEXLTMH Ms Joanne CHONG Sze-pui, MH
® 2023F4A1BHESD ® 2023F11818HES
Newly-appointed Observers (1 Apr 2023) Newly-appointed Observers (1 Nov 2023)
® 2023118 1REBHK ® 2024F 4B 1HEHK
Retired Observers (1 Nov 2023) Retired Observers (1 Apr 2024)
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30 MAE#REEL > BBS > MH Dr CHOW Kam-wai, BBS, MH
31 FOKELSE Mr Ricky CHOY Wing-kay
32 E{mMtit Ms Linda CHUA Pui-shan
33 HREBLE Mr Stephen CHUA Yiu-yeung
34 HEREZT Ms CHUNG Yin-ting
e 35 BHIEKE > MH Mr Alex FAN Hoi-kit, MH
o 36 FANXEHEE Mr James Mathew FONG
37 FEEEL Dr Shirley FU
® 38 /BERESKLE > MH Mr Clement FUNG Cheuk-nang, MH
39  fAxRMEE Mr Alan HO Ka-ki
40 IMEZRE Hon Adrian Pedro HO King-hong
41 fIJEEISEE Mr HO Siu-kong
42 fRIRERRSRE Mr HO Ting-hong
43 AFHSLE Mr James HO Tsz-kong
e 44 fIEREEL Dr HO Wai-kuen
45 ALt Ms HO Yuen-han
L6 FFmmUE Ms HUI Ching-ching
e 47 FFARARTL Ms Cindi HUI Ming-ming
48  EMXIEL Dr Tiffany IP Nga-min
49 EEHZEE P Hon Carmen KAN Wai-mun, JP
50 FABHITE Mr KWAN Chiu-ping
51 FRAEMHRETE Mr Spencer KWAN Chor-chung
52 MBEEL Dr Otis LAM Cho-bun
e 53 MIRFRLZE Mr LAM Chun-sing
® 54 MBEREE Mr Laurie LAM Hoy-lee
55 MEREL4E > BBS MH » JP Mr Matthew LAM Kin-hong, BBS, MH, JP
® 56 MHBELRSE Mr Justin LAM Yu-wa
57 RIEEMEELE Mr Terence LAU Chun-kai
e 58 ZBINXELE Mr Benjamin LAU Man-tung
e 59 XKL MH Mr Billy LAU Wai-kwong, MH
60 ZFIERLE Mr Ellis LAU Ying-tung
61 FMHELSE Mr LEE Sai-kee
62 FFEFUL Ms Vivian LEE Ying-shih
63 FErEHELZ L MH P Mrs Tennessy LEE HUI Mei-sheung, MH, JP
® 2023F4B1BHESD ® 2023F11818HES
Newly-appointed Observers (1 Apr 2023) Newly-appointed Observers (1 Nov 2023)
® 20234118 1HEK ® 2024F4A1HBHK
Retired Observers (1 Nov 2023) Retired Observers (1 Apr 2024)
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o 64 ZRESLEMH Mr Jonathan LEUNG Chun, MH
® 65 ZREELE Mr LEUNG Wai-tat
66 ZRHMELL Ms Yvonne LEUNG Yuen-man
67 FEMEL Ms LI Ka-yan
68 PEEmiuL Ms LIAO Shu-hang
69 MERLE Mr Charles LIN Xiao-dong
70 E@ZELLT Ms LIN Yee-wa
71 BE®®LE - MH Ms Samantha LIU Ling-ling, MH
o 72 EREXRE Mr Vincent LO Kai-fu
73 #mAiEL Dr LO Pui-yin
74 FEEZEE > BBS > MH )P Ms LU Hai, BBS, MH, JP
e 75 EREE Mr Robert LUI Chi-wang
76 @#FELE > BBS Mr Quincy LUI Kwan-yiu, BBS
77  BESHESESE 0 MH Mr LUK King-kwong, MH
e 738 EBEUL Ms Mabel MAK Lok-sheung
79 ZEFERBLL Ms Yanice MAK Wing-yan
e 80 ERuuiLE Mr Andrew MAK Yung-pan
o 81 EXELZE Mr Michael MOK Man-too
82 EHIBED Rev MOK Yun-fai
83 {RiBLEE > MH Mr Aaron NG Hoi-shan, MH
e 84 BRBRWRZLJP Ms NG Ling-ling, JP
85 {hZEXEHE Mr Raymond NG Ngai-man
86 RIAEIIZED Ir NG Pak-hung
87 BRERBEE Mr Andy NG Wang-tsang
88 EEBKLE Mr Lucas NGAN Chun
89 =LKL MH Mr Victor PANG Wing-seng, MH
e 90 REESNBRL Mrs Helena PONG TUNG Ching-yee
91 ZERESE Mr Rex SHAM Pui-sum
() 92 FERESE > SBS MH P Mr SIU Chor-kee, SBS, MH, JP
93 HIRuL Ms Crystal SO Hoi-yan
94 HEBEE Mr Eliott Hancock SUEN
95 MXRE&AEE > MH Mr Kyran SZE, MH
96 RIE[ESRAE Mr Wilson TAM Wai-shun
97 HBREE Mr TANG Chi-wang
® 2023F4B1BHESD ® 2023F11818HES
Newly-appointed Observers (1 Apr 2023) Newly-appointed Observers (1 Nov 2023)
® 20234118 1HEK ® 2024F4A1HBHK
Retired Observers (1 Nov 2023) Retired Observers (1 Apr 2024)
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98 REERELE Mr Hugh TONG Chun-wai
99 EERZL P Ms TONG Zi-yan, JP
100 EEZEL+ Ms Sherry TSAI Hiu-wai
101 BEEXZL Ms TSANG Ka-lai
102 BEEYZL Ms TSANG Tsz-lui
o 103 EERLKZE Mr Simon TSO
o 104 HTFARE Ms Vivian TSUI Sau-yin
o 105 BEaBEE Mr TUNG Pit-ching
o 106 RfEEESE Mr Joe WAN Pui-lun
e 107 BEIEXTL Ms Fiona WAN Zee-ngan
108 EFEZx&=* Ms Gigi WONG Ching-chi
109 FEHEERL Ms Jacqueline WONG
110 =|#EWEAcE Mr David WONG Ming-bun
111 =ERKE Mr WONG Ting-hong
o 112 EfEMmkLE Mr WONG Wai-lun
113 AIBHEIEE - )P Prof WOO King-hang, JP
o 114 HHER=EL P Dr Kitty WU Kit-ying, JP
115 S2fEmekE Mr Bernard WU Tak-lung
e 116 #MHwfIyTE%zL > MH Mrs XIAO HE Yuan-feng, MH
117 RARLEE Mr Jackie XU Jieyi
118 EMRfiE Mr YAN Mou-keung
o 119 mHWELZL Ms Elaine YAU Yik-ling
120 HBEZELZL Ms Vivian YEUNG Cheuk-chi
e 121 BERERZE Ms Maggie YEUNG Hong-ki
e 122 HBERKE Mr YEUNG Kwun-tung
123 HBEREEL Dr YEUNG Wai-hong
124 #HBEZLZ+ P Ms Jennifer YEUNG Yin-chi, JP
e 125 EBLERERL Ms Carmen YIM Kei-man
o 126 HIRmLLEBBS>MH-JP Mr Stephen YIP Chun-nam, BBS, MH, JP
o 127 $kEHXLL Ms Christina YIU Po-nga
o 128 BBERKE Mr Jeremy YOUNG Chit-on
e 129 MmEREE Mr Kenny YUEN Kin-chung
o 130 mEELE Mr YUEN Tat-tong
® 2023F4B1BHESD ® 2023F11818HES
Newly-appointed Observers (1 Apr 2023) Newly-appointed Observers (1 Nov 2023)
® 20234118 1HEK ® 2024F4A1HBHK
Retired Observers (1 Nov 2023) Retired Observers (1 Apr 2024)
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EEOgNERE
IPCC Secretariat

EEZEEH—EA2RONERESZE NWER
MMEREE > 2023/24 FEHHIHE 68
LHE MERENIEZERMERMHEESR
ZRFERNATRSNEEZEGNT

The IPCC is supported by a full-time Secretariat, headed by Secretary-
General, with a total of 68 posts on the establishment in 2023/24.
The major function of the Secretariat is to assist Council Members in
examining complaint investigation reports and promoting the work of

E o the IPCC.

BEEEWERBE2024F38318/MEMA  The organisational chart of the IPCC Secretariat as of 31 March 2024
BT : is as below:

4 )

HER

Secretary-General

E1RRER
Legal Adviser

BIHER(1TE)
Deputy Secretary-General
(Operations)

BMIEMERQ)
Assistant Secretary-General (1)

BIEMER(2)
Assistant Secretary-General (2)

BHER(EE)
Deputy Secretary-General
Management)

BftZTAl Bz
Research Team Vetting Teams
ANERM

. DR (R EHR

Fi/n;ance - Public Human Information

Corporate Relations Resources & Technology

g Team Administration Team
Services Team T

L J
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B EMR SRR ERES RIBFEE T

Independent Auditor’s Report to Independent Police Complaints Council

(REBEBILBRRESRELFREZEZHRO) KL
(Established under the Independent Police Complaints Council Ordinance)

IBDO
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
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www.bdo.com.hk Hong Keng

EEE © 48522218 8288 EE

{HE . +852 28152239 FaEPI1sR
www.bdo.com.hk K E L2541

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of the Independent Police
Complaints Council (the “Council”) set out on pages 105 to 129,
which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March
2024, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of
changes in reserves and statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Council as at 31 March 2024, and of its
financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (*HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our report. We are
independent of the Council in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Matter

The financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2023, were audited by another auditor who expressed an unmodified
opinion on those statements on 31 August 2023.

BUBRRESRERHFEEE  2023/24TFRE
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Other Information in the Annual Report

The Council is responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Council’s
annual report, but does not include the financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility
is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

Council’s Responsibilities for the Financial Statements

The Council is responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA and for such
internal control as the Council determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Council is responsible for
assessing the Council’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the Council either
intends to liquidate the Council or to cease operations, or has no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Independent Police Complaints Council ® Report 2023/24
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 29(2) of Schedule 1 of the Independent
Police Complaints Council Ordinance (Cap. 604), and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

* identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Council’s internal control.

e evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and

the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the Council.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements (Continued)

e conclude on the appropriateness of the Council’s use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Council’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Council to
cease to continue as a going concern.

e evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Council regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Yu Tsui Fong

Practising Certificate Number PO5440

Hong Kong, 6 September 2024

104 Independent Police Complaints Council ¢ Report 2023/24



/NE Chapter6
BFE¥RE  Financial Statements

F2EMmR

Statement of Comprehensive Income

BE_Z_NF=A=+—HLEE
For the year ended 31 March 2024

i 2024 2023
Note HKS HK$
KA Income
BUF#EER  Government subventions 6 94,208,000 100,807,000
_ AfteA  Otherincome L 2,483,215 1625369
96,691,215 102,432,369
i Expenditure
BTIr4  Staff costs 8 58,770,347 59,523,970
—MRRATHER  General and administrative expenses 8 23,053,407 27,580,578
XEZEEfE Honorarium to Council members 17 632,439 699,013
F#EMA  Finance cost 8 442,362 444,099
e 82,898,555 | 88,247,660
TEERBREEWMEEEE
Surplus and total comprehensive income for the year 13,792,660 14,184,709
BUBERESRPRHFEET  2023/24THERE 105




BAFEAR R

Statement of Financial Position
CCECME=A=+—H

At 31 March 2024

#HZE20245F HZE2023F BZE20228
3A31H 3H31H 4818
As at As at As at
31 March 31 March 1 April
Bk 2024 2023 2022
Note HKS HK$ HK$
(&) (&E3)
(Restated) (Restated)
JEREIZEE Non-current assets
EE&EE Fixed assets 10 17,272,160 24,477,413 9,838,153
Fi8EE Current assets
e KFEIFIE Deposits and prepayments 5,268,483 5,470,043 5,848,059
HhpgElrzaE  Other receivables 1,160 3,896 493
REERA = @A MU > EERER
Time deposits with original maturity over 3 months 33,297,879| | 19,000,000 -
BEXIBEEBY)  Cash and cash equivalents 11 10,400,139 | 25,721,622 | 41,077,955
48,967,661 50,195,561 46,926,507
WEHEfE Current liabilities
HhEZEREstEA  Other payables and accruals 12 7,023,904 6,643,124 6,585,499
BET#mENeR%E  Provision for staff gratuities 13 4,504,315 2,617,370 4,318,192
HEEBE Lease liabilities 14 9,466,117 9,232,639 4,107,538
20994336 18493133 15011229
WEREFE Netcurrentassets 27,973,325 31,702,428 31915278
BERERTHERE
Total assets less current liabilites 45,245,485 56,179,841 41,753,431
JERBIAM  Non-current liabilities
BT 4 mNeRE  Provision for staff gratuities 13 3,042,803 4,188,492 2,662,703
fHE&E Lease liabilities 14 3,208,273 | 12,674,390 -
6,251,076 16,362,882 2,662,703
BHEFE Netassets 38,994,409 39,316,959 39,090,728
#f% Reserves
Ket&®eHR  Accumulated surplus 15 38,994,409 39,316,959 39,090,728

AER_ZMFENBNBHELRBERAMEMERE o

Approved and authorised for issue by the Council on 6 September 2024.
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HEE2HE
Statement of Changes in Reserves
BHE_Z_NMFE=A=1+—HLFE
For the year ended 31 March 2024

L4 gl
Accumulated
PoEE surplus
Note HKS
RIEB__FNA—H2Z4&%
Balances at 1 April 2022 39,090,728
FARG KA
Surplus and total comprehensive income for the year 14,184,709
REFEBHITHEERN ( IHB8BUN] ) HNBHRREE
Excess reserve refunded to the Government of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region (the “Government”) 15 (13,958,478)
R-E_=H=A=+—HR-E_=FHNA—RAZ&KF
Balance at 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 39,316,959
FARFREARN D
Surplus and total comprehensive income for the year 13,792,660
RETEBBUNIBREHE
Excess reserve refunded to the Government 15 (14,115,210)
R-E_ME=A=+—HZ2&R
Balance at 31 March 2024 38,994,409

BUBRRESRERHFEEE  2023/24TFRE 107




WERER

Statement of Cash Flows
ME=A=+—HLFE

For the year ended 31 March 2024

i 2024 2023
Note HKS HK$
&iE;%8 Operating activities
FARGAEEWE
Surplus and total comprehensive income for the year 13,792,660 14,184,709
ERM TS IEELFAEEE ¢ Adjustment for:
— #7E Depreciation 11,222,368 13,559,306
— B#% &R Finance cost 442,362 444,099
— FMEBWA Interestincome (2,445,317) (1,623,853)
— RETFHBBUNABREREE
________ Excess reserve refunded to the Government | (14,115,210)  (13.958478)
SEESEHRICSERER
Operating surplus before working capital changes 8,896,863 12,605,783
¥ RFEMREZ /LD
Decrease in deposits and prepayments 201,560 378,016
LA B U RIE 2 R
Decrease in other receivables 2,736 -
HA P& FRIE K FE 5T & F 2 18 0
Increase in other payables and accruals 380,780 57,625
BT AmNERE 28 m )
Increase/(decrease) in provision for staff gratuities 741,256 (175,033)
REEEIHEEZREMAFEE
Net cash generated from operating activites 10,223,195 12,866,391
Investing activities
BBABTEEE Purchase of fixed assets (4,017,115) (263,307)
JREEAH =@ 8 MU £ 2 EHIF RS2 B
Withdrawal of time deposits with original maturity over 3 months 19,000,000 -
FREHBHB=ER MU L ZEHEFER
Placement of time deposits with original maturity over 3 months (32,500,000) (19,000,000)
_BWRE Interestreceived 1,647,438 1,620,450
BREREESHZIREMH B2 Net cash used in investing activities (15,869,677) (17,642,857)
FiE;EE Financing activities
ENHEEHEENELREIS  Capital element of lease rentals paid 18 (9,232,639) (10,135,768)
_ BAHEEMEROFSHSD |nterest element of lease rentalspaid 18 || (442,362) | (444,099)
FBIRMAEE 2 RE P Cash usedin financing activities (9,675,001)  (10.579.867)
RERREEEM2ZiHL BT
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (15,321,483) (15,356,333)
FzREREEEY
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of theyear 25,721,622 41,077,955
FRZRERNEEEY
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 11 10,400,139 25,721,622

BI09BEF 1295 MHBREMNTEBEMHRERZ -85

The notes on pages 109 to 129 form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BE_Z_NMFE=-RA=+—HILFE
For the year ended 31 March 2024

1. Bt

BURRESRERHFEZES ((£E)) 2

BBE(EIIERE R RERHEZE KA
(55604F) (TAF KRB 1) BILAY—EE
E o REBEAERE > AEREEEHBD
AR EXEEEHR GERNEBRERE
BREFERENEENBE T THAE
15 Bl P +5 BA BY 2B B ¥R 3% 57 1B 52 YRR I A 5
BETFREBRRERIITHREENEM L

HmERHEZ  AE TSGR REEER
bE ¥R 32 .ﬁ@?ﬁ'ﬁemﬂé} HEMERE
BABFHMNITHETER > THARIT

BIEMHER -

RRAGWIFLAEE > BEARETEM
SMNEFTIIMEARTE > ARG EER/

BREAEEEREMEFSFNRZ T
RMENFBEFRBTAENEEAR
HIEEHE ©

FAENESTEREBTBBUTER - £
EERGUVAGEE T —EMREE > N
BN RRAFEFRATIMAX

1. General information

The Independent Police Complaints Council (the “Council”) is a body
corporate established under the Independent Police Complaints
Council Ordinance (Cap. 604) (the “Ordinance”). Under the Ordinance,
the Council assumes its statutory role as the authority for observing,
monitoring and reviewing the handling and investigation of reportable
complaints, and making recommendations to the Commissioner of
Police or the Chief Executive or both of them in respect of the handling
or investigation of reportable complaints as specified in the
Ordinance. The Council also monitors actions taken or to be taken in
respect of any member of the police force by the Commissioner in
connection with reportable complaints, and to advise them of its
opinion on such actions.

Since the Council is not profit-oriented and is not subject to any
externally imposed capital requirements, its primary financial and
capital management objectives are to maintain a balance between
annual income and expenditure, so that it has the ability to operate as
a going concern and perform its statutory roles and functions.

The Council is primarily financed by government subventions. Any
operating surplus shall be carried forward to the following financial
year to meet future expenditure required for the operations of the
Council.

BUBRRESRERHFEEE  2023/24TFRE
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2.1

Adoption of new or amended Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)

New or amended HKFRSs effective for annual period
beginning on or after 1 April 2023

The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) has issued the following new or amended HKFRSs
that are relevant to the Council and first effective for the current
accounting period of the Council. HKFRSs include all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by
the HKICPA.

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

The adoption of new or amended HKFRSs has no material impact
on the Council’s results, financial position and accounting
policies except for the adoption of Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Disclosure of Accounting Policies”
which are discussed below.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2
“Disclosure of Accounting Policies”

The amendments require entities to disclose material accounting
policy information and provide guidance on applying the concept
of materiality to accounting policy disclosure. The impacts on the
Council’s accounting policy disclosure resulted in removal or
reduction of certain immaterial accounting policies.

Independent Police Complaints Council ® Report 2023/24
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w7 &2 Chapter6
BFE¥RE  Financial Statements

Adoption of new or amended Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Amended HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective for the year ended 31 March 2024

The following amended HKFRSs have been issued but are not yet
effective and have not been early adopted by the Council. These
amended HKFRSs include the following which may be relevant to
the Council.

Amendments to HKFRS 16  Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback®

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current?!

Amendments to HKAS 1

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants!

Amendments to HKAS 1

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

The Council is currently assessing the possible impact of these
revised standards on the Council’s results and financial position
in the first year of application. The Council anticipates that these
amended HKFRSs are not expected to have a material impact on
the Council’s financial statements.

Prior years reclassification

During the year, it was identified that a certain portion of the Council’s

BHENIEESON EEFELRFBEAR

BE-BEEA > AENKRSHRLIAER
MRZBONERLERIREPRRERE
D+"ERBRMNE - ZBOFHENRET
FOREARK12ER RE R EIRIA MmN E o

provision for staff gratuities had not been classified as current liability
at the end of the reporting period in the prior years. This was due to
the fact that, at the end of the reporting period, the Council did not
have the right to defer settlement of that portion of liability for at least
twelve months after the end of the reporting period. That portion
specifically related to the staff gratuities payment to employees who
were entitled to receive within the next 12 months at the end of the
reporting period.

BUBRRESRERFEEE o m
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3. EEEMNEHRDEGE) 3. Prioryears reclassification (Continued)

Hit > EIA RS BENETEH 4B As a result, the certain portion of provision for staff gratuities of
2,617,370 T K81 4,318,192t 98] HK$2,617,370 and HK$4,318,192 was reclassified from non-current
N R =_F-A=+—HKRIZZZ liabilities to current liabilities as at 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2022,
ME—HHRIERHEGEEHMDEERHE respectively. The impact of the reclassification on each line item of the
BoZEBEMPDEHR_FT_—FE=F=+— statement of financial position as at 31 March 2023 and 1 April
RIBZZFNB—HMMBRREERNE 2022, is summarised as follows:

HEEEZREBRENT

#x2023% IEE  #E20238 #@F2022% LEE  #F2022%
38318 ENNE 38318 4A1R > ENNE 4818
FHIZR a7 EL]] FAIZHR a7 a5
As at As at
31 March As at 1 April As at
2023, as Effect of 31 March 2022, as Effect of 1 April
previously prior year 2023,as  previously prior year 2022, as
RBIKRE reported reclassification restated reported reclassification restated
Statement of financial position HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
JEREEE Non-current assets
EEEE Fixed assets 24,477,413 - 24,477,413 9,838,153 - 9,838,153
FEEE Current assets
W& RFMEIFIE  Deposits and prepayments 5,470,043 - 5,470,043 5,848,059 - 5,848,059
HitfEWEIE  Other receivables 3,896 - 3,896 493 - 493
REMA=EAN L2 EHEM
Time deposits with original maturity over 3 months | 19,000,000 - 119,000,000 - - -
RBeRREZBY  (ashand cash equivalents 25,721,622 - | 25721,622| | 41,077,955 - | 41,077,955
50,195,561 50,195,561 46,926,507 46,926,507
FE&fE Current liabilities
HitETIEREER
Other payables and accruals 6,643,124 - 6,643,124 6,585,499 - 6,585,499
ETAREISEME  Provision for staff gratuities - 2,617,370 2,617,370 - 4,318,192 4,318,192
HHESE Lease liabilities 9,232,639 - 9,232,639 4,107,538 - 4,107,538
15,875,763 18,493,133 10,693,037 15,011,229
WEEEFE Net current assets 34,319,798 31,702,428 36,233,470 31,915,278
BERERTBAR
Total assets less current liabilities 58,797,211 56,179,841 46,071,623 41,753,431

JEREafE  Non-current liabilities
ETAREISEE  Provision for staff gratuities 6,805,862  (2,617,370) | 4,188,492 6,980,895  (4,318,192) | 2,662,703

HHESE Lease liabilities 12,674,390 - 12,674,390 - - -
19,480,252 16,862,882 6,980,895 2,662,703

BESE Netassets 39,316,959 39,316,959 39,090,728 39,090,728

f#f& Reserves

Z:&i  Accumulated surplus 39,316,959 39,316,959 39,090,728 39,090,728

12 Independent Police Complaints Council ¢ Report 2023/24



()

(b)

RREERGBR
MBERENESE

AENH SRR REE BH SRS
HEBFFAR AL o

RUZSYHBREFMRABZGSTEER
BT o BRBZAMRBAIN 0 RFER
HERERRERZIFABEEE - &
M RSB BB HREER K
HEAGYBRRZTZE (WH) BN
G B IARM A 2 IKEE -

KM BRRIRAEL ARGt EER
8 o

EE&E
BEEERUMAREERRHTE
MBERBERE (IA) B AR
A e

StENMERUEEEERB Z A5 H
ERFHRN  MEHEMIFE > B
®E 2 hETERE > WEANT -

HERE

HERETIZ 3
MAERR 5%
BH=RE 34
BREMKE 3%
EHESE

HE T KI8T B EFH

(S FERE  MRRERTES
TETD RSB S HARIR EY 3 BT B SRR
(IS 3B 2 B o

e

BEEEEGHHENTRPUBRERE
BN R R AL A By 4R LEBE
B NHENKREEEEEEBRE
FZEMEDEUHERFRIBEZ
EEREEZER;E > TRNBEEN

=]
e ©

4,
(a)

(b)

Pala i W — -

w7 &2 Chapter6
BFE¥RE  Financial Statements

Basis of preparation and accounting policies
Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The Council’s financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs.

The accounting policies that have been used in the preparation
of these financial statements are summarised below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented
unless otherwise stated. The adoption of new or amended
HKFRSs and the impact on the Council’s financial statements, if
any, are disclosed in note 2 to the financial statements.

The measurement basis used
statements is at historical cost.

in preparing the financial

Fixed assets

Fixed assets are stated in the statement of financial position at
cost less subsequent depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using
the straight-line method, as follows:

Owned assets

Leasehold improvements 3 years
Office equipment 5 years
Computer equipment 3 years
Furniture and fixtures 3 years

Right-of-use asset

Leasehold land and building Over the lease term
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of fixed assets is derecognised upon disposal or when
no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of fixed assets is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

BUERESEBEHESE o 202324 T1ERS
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(d)

Basis of preparation and accounting policies
(Continued)

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
statement of financial position when the Council becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire; the Council transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets;
or the Council neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the assets but has not retained
control on the assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the
difference between the assets’ carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under a
contract whose terms require delivery of the asset within the
timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially
measured at fair value, plus directly attributable transaction
costs except in the case of investments at fair value through
profit or loss. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of investments at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are classified under this category if they satisfy
both of the following conditions:

— the assets are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows; and

— the contractual terms of the assets give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method less loss
allowances for expected credit losses.

Independent Police Complaints Council ® Report 2023/24
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Basis of preparation and accounting policies
(Continued)

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Council recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses on financial assets at amortised cost. Expected credit
losses are the weighted average of credit losses with the
respective risks of a default occurring as the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Council measures the
loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to
the expected credit losses that result from all possible default
events over the expected life of that financial instrument
(“lifetime expected credit losses”), or if the credit risk on that
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition.

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a financial
instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Council measures the loss allowance for that
financial instrument at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime
expected credit losses that represents the expected credit losses
that result from default events on that financial instrument that
are possible within 12 months after the reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust the
loss allowance at the end of the reporting period to the required
amount is recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or
loss.

Leases
(i) Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of
initial application, the Council assesses whether a contract
is or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the
terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

BUERESEBEHESE o 202324 T1ERS

115



4.

(®

116

BB EREETEER (48

HE (&)
(i) ZFEEHABEA
CHHERICIEEEEMEE

AEHHE G BEES S
A+ ERSU TR ERER
AIEAITE SR R R FESR & Bk ©
rENBEEIBEEEENR
E-ERHERMEBEEENEER
MRS IR B AR AR
SO AFISE ©

®
(i)

EHEEE
ERREENRFTEE !

() HESEMIFHELE;

(b) MBI BHERE ZAIFTERY
FEEEENR BEEM
BWEHEERE &

O FTEELENEMEVBERE

A o

EREEEREMAR MRS
TERBERBEE > WEFAE
EaENEAERFTEMFELH

o

REEMEEERSHEREESR
EHEHERmRIERE &g
CHMABERERERFHER
WEHEITE  BRILLISN - AR
BEEGRAMGSAIEAFEHEE
EHRNBIEENEREINE -

Independent Police Complaints Council ® Report 2023/24

Basis of preparation and accounting policies
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Council as a lessee
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Council applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. It also applies the recognition exemption
for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term
leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

(@) the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

(b) any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received; and

() anyinitial direct costs incurred by the Council.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Council is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the
end of the lease term is depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life or the lease term.
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Basis of preparation and accounting policies
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
(iij) The Council as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Council
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In
calculating the present value of lease payments, the Council
uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease
is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash comprises cash on hand and at bank. Cash equivalents are
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three
months of maturity at acquisition.

Other payables

Other payables are initially measured at fair value and, after
initial recognition, at amortised cost, except for short-term
payables with no stated interest rate and the effect of
discounting being immaterial, that are measured at their original
invoice amount.
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@

Basis of preparation and accounting policies
(Continued)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Council has a legal or constructive obligation
arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will
be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Revenue recognition
(i) Government subventions

Government subventions are recognised at their fair value
where there is a reasonable assurance that the subvention
will be received and the Council will comply with all
attached conditions.

Interest income

@ii)
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method.

Independent Police Complaints Council ® Report 2023/24
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Basis of preparation and accounting policies
(Continued)

Impairment of tangible assets

At the end of reporting period, the Council reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible assets with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

Employee benefits
(i) Employee leave and gratuity entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and gratuity are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is
made for the estimated liability for annual leave and
gratuity as a result of services rendered by employees up to
the end of reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity or
paternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

(i) Retirement benefit costs

The Council has joined the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the MPF Scheme) established under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance for contract staff. The
Council contributes 5% of the relevant income of staff
members under the MPF Scheme and subject to ceiling of
$1,500 per month. The assets of the Scheme are held
separately from those of the Council, in funds under the
control of trustee.

Payments to the MPF Scheme are charged as an expense as
they fall due.
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4. Basis of preparation and accounting policies
(Continued)

4, EHEERGHEE (8)
(m) RAEA (m) Related parties
() MPARHOABRRERERKEAZ 0]

A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Council if that person:

(@ has control orjoint control over the Council;

(b) has significant influence over the Council; or

() is a member of the key management personnel of the
Council.

An entity is related to the Council if any of the following
conditions applies:

(@ The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Council or an entity
related to the Council.

(b) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in ().

(c) A person identified in (i)(a) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity.

(d) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Council.
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5. Critical accounting estimates and judgement

The Council's management makes assumptions, estimates and
judgements in the process of applying the Council’s accounting
policies that affect the assets, liabilities, income and expenses in the
financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs. The
assumptions, estimates and judgements are based on historical
experience and other factors that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances. While the management reviews their judgements,
estimates and assumptions continuously, the actual results will
seldom equal to the estimates.

Certain key assumptions and risk factors in respect of the financial risk
management are set out in note 16. There are no other key sources of
estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of asset and liabilities
within the next financial year.

6. Government subventions

Government subventions represent the funds subvented by the
Government for the Council’s services which is determined with regard
to the needs of the Council as presented in its annual budget and
proposed projects.

7. HthUgA 7. Otherincome
2024 2023
HKS HK$
FEWA Interestincome 2,445,317 1,623,853
MIEWA  Sundryincome 37,898 1,516
2,483,215 1,625,369
BUBEREHRIPIFEES « 2023/24T1EHRSE 121




8. FARBRKEZEME 8. Surplus and total comprehensive income for the year
FABRBAEZEWR@EEETA Surplus and total comprehensive income for the year is arrived at after
charging:
2024 2023
HKS HK$
(@) BIm# Staff cost
— BHIMEATERME  Contribution to Mandatory Provident Funds 1,116,073 1,151,186
______ —#rd ~ THRHAMER Salaries, wages and otherbenefits 57,654,274 58,372,784
58,770,347 59,523,970
(b) —R&RKITE(ER General and administrative expenses
ZEEMBN<S  Auditor's remuneration 175,500 42,000
EHREEER Rates and management fee 2,251,650 2,310,410
BEERAREBESEH  Publicity and public educational affairs 1,143,837 1,338,083
= 55t28] Observers’ scheme 491,343 468,388
{28 Insurance 75,013 80,552
HEIEFN{RE  Repairs and maintenance 4,345,517 3,866,403
~FEEHE  Utilities 544,907 648,471
#TE& Depreciation 11,222,368 13,559,306
______ e Others . 28032712 5266965
23,053,407 27,580,578
(c) RtER4 Finance cost
HEBBZFE Interest on lease liabilities 442,362 444,099
9. 1\ 9. Taxation

RIRCIRFBIRB) 3£ 87 RHIRE » AEEE
RR > AL A EBEBELAMBRRER
HEMNGHREE -

122
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No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in the financial
statements as the Council is exempted from profits tax pursuant to
section 87 of the Inland Revenue Ordinance.
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10. EIEE&E 10. Fixed assets
BERE EREEE
Right-of-use
Owned assets assets
HEREIR FARRE  HWAERE Ehixfe IVt HELHRIET e
Furniture Leasehold
Leasehold and Office Computer land and
improvements fixtures equipment  equipment  Sub-total buildings Total
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
B4 Cost
RIEZ=FMA—H
At 1 April 2023 7,573,088 1,299,676 2,081,313 28,248,658 39,202,735 62,437,074 101,639,809
#E  Additions - 40,740 1,388,695 2,587,680 4,017,115 - 4,017,115
RE Disposals B339 (39008) | G2712) (804059 - <. (804,059)
RIZZME=A=+—H
At3IMarch2024 7573088 1308077 2731000 30803626 42415791 62437,074 104,852,865
REHE  Accumulated depreciation
RZE-=£MmA—H
At 1 April 2023 7,378,400 1,241,578 1,780,733 26,052,036 36,452,747 40,709,649 77,162,396
ERIE  Charge for the year 194,688 66,821 157,145 1,491,961 1910615 9,311,753 11,222,368
REps Wrtebackondisposals - - 02339 (39008 (2712) (804059 - (804,059)
RZZZME=A=+—H
At3IMarch2024 7573088 1276060 1198870 27511285 37,559,303 50021402 87,580,705
IREFE Netbook value
RZE_ME=A=+—H
At 31 March 2024 - 32,017 1,532,130 3,292,341 4,856,488 12,415,672 17,272,160
B Cost
e —cE S R
At 1 April 2022 7,573,088 1,383,629 2,043,993 28,035,465 39,036,175 34,501,815 73,537,990
$E  Additions - 5,844 44,270 213,193 263,307 27,935,259 28,198,566
RE Disposals S ©n 6950 T berdn - a1
RZFZ=f=A=+-H
At 31 March 2023 7,573,088 1,299,676 2,081,313 28,248,658 39,202,735 62,437,074 101,639,809
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10. BEEE ()

10. Fixed assets (Continued)

BEEE ERERE
Right-of-use
Owned assets assets
HEREIR FERKE WAERE Blamts st RETHREF g
Furniture Leasehold
Leasehold and Office Computer land and
improvements  fixtures equipment  equipment  Sub-total buildings Total
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
FEHFE  Accumulated depreciation
RIZZZEMA-H
At 1 April 2022 6,911,150 1,219,569 1,649,564 23,368,876 33,149,159 30,550,678 63,699,837
FRHTE  Charge for the year 467,250 111,806 138,119 2,683,160 3,400,335 10,158,971 13,559,306
RER Wit backondisposals - S e 60 S e - e
RZBZ=F=A=+—H
AIMarch2023 7378400 1241578 1780733 26052036 36452747 40709649 77,162,396
BREFE Netbook value
RZZEZ=fF=A=+—-H
At 31 March 2023 194,688 58,098 300,580 2,196,622 2,749,988 21,727,425 24,477,413
11. RERNTLEEBY 11. Cash and cash equivalents
2024 2023
HKS HK$
i8177F=  Bank balance 10,400,139 25,721,622
12, HithFE(I =R IE R Bt &R 12. Other payables and accruals
2024 2023
HKS HK$
B#58E  Financial liabilities 4,250,529 3,475,566
ARG Unutilised annual leave balances 2,773,375 3,167,558
7,023,904 6,643,124

Lth BT RBE KRBT ERTER

=2 O

y

Bl

124

SR —FERNE
year.
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Other payables and accruals are expected to be settled within one
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13. ETH R EEE 13. Provision for staff gratuities

2024 2023

HKS HK$

(#E51)

(Restated)

REB—HR4EE  Balance as at 1 April 6,805,862 6,980,895

REEEFHREME  Provision made for the year 5,905,554 5,393,057
AEEBAAMKE  Provision utilised fortheyear (5,164,298)  (5,568,090)

R=A=+—H4%8: Balance as at 31 March 7,547,118 6,805,862
B :mEpEE)  Less:currentportion (4,504,315)  (2,617,370)

JERENERS  Non-current portion 3,042,803 4,188,492

BTAMMEBERATZNBEREMEL  Provision for staff gratuities is set up for the gratuity payments which
NE TN ZEEE BIEAVA MM EMZ1L ©  will be payable to employees of the Council who complete their
contracts commencing from the date of their employment.

14. HHE AT 14. Lease liabilities
2024 2023
HKS HK$
REAEHIE  Minimum lease payment due
——fR  Within 1 year 9,675,000 9,675,000
- T®MLEBREN 1to5years 3,225,000 12,900,000
12,900,000 22,575,000
A ARRARM  Less: future financecharges (225,610) | (667,971)
THE&EIRE  Present value of lease liabilities 12,674,390 21,907,029
DITEA - Analysed as:
TEnER{n  Current portion 9,466,117 9,232,639
JERBNEMS  Non-current portion 3,208,273 12,674,390

12,674,390 21,907,029
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15. A5 EER

BESBRNEFEE_T—tFEXA
“THERITNMTERZHETSE) (B
%) SBNE > AERUREBREBRHA
ZIRBUHENFEARE  MEZEEHET
EBHZMBEEEE LB 25% °
Mz HFERRZ FEHEBHZYBEFEEL
FEEBNRER 25%  BRIFFEIMESEH KR
BBERERILE > AEREBH LRI
BIRETHEBEM o

AERAHNRBEERS HAREMETE AP
FEBREHEHRNSE AT REMRZSE
BEFTEABNNBEFEHEN _S_NFE
—BA=+—HETEE RAFE > &xg
MWEE_ S _ZFE=-A=1+—HHHREE
ZBEEHBRERBK 14,115,210 (2%
TR HESE-=fF=/8=+—A
HEE BN 13,958,478 75) FEBET ©

15. Accumulated surplus

In accordance with section 6 of the Memorandum of Administrative
Arrangements (“MAA”) dated 22 June 2017 signed between the
Government and the Council, the Council is allowed to keep and
accumulate any unspent recurrent subvention as reserve, subject to
the condition that the reserve accumulated should not exceed 25% of
its recurrent subvention of that financial year. If the reserve as at the
end of the financial year exceeds 25% of the recurrent subvention of
that financial year, the Council shall return the amount in excess of the
limit to the Government, except with the approval of Secretary for
Financial Services and the Treasury.

The Council considers the amount of excess reserve for the year has
not been conclusive up to the reporting date, no provision for the
refund of excess reserve to the Government has been made as at 31
March 2024 accordingly. During the year, the excess reserve of
HK$14,115,210 for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2023:
HK$13,958,478 for the year ended 31 March 2022) has been
refunded to the Government by the Council.

16. £RTH 16. Financial instruments
TEREEMEED AHLUTER The Council has classified its financial assets in the following category:
2024 2023
HKS HK$
SR AYIBRAVEREE  Financial assets at amortised cost
¥#%& Deposits 2,879,993 2,883,093
HfhpEugzraa  Other receivables 1,160 3,896
REEH =EB U L EHATFER
Time deposits with original maturity over 3 months 33,297,879 19,000,000
ReRReSMHEY  Cashand cashequivalents 10,400,139 25721622
46,579,171 47,608,611
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16. Financial instruments (Continued)

The Council has classified its financial liabilities in the following
category:

2024 2023
HKS HK$
FHSSHR A TIERAYSRIEE  Financial liabilities at amortised cost
HAthEIBEREsTER  Other payables and accruals 4,250,529 3,475,566
HES® Leaseliabilites . 12674390 21,907,029
16,924,919 25,382,595

FREEMIANKREEEN T " =FK
“ECHNE=ZA=+—HN2AEETER
BEXRER -

rENEETREM T AGEEHNEE
B RBETERAFRER ~EE
BUTHREEZFRRE  LURKZFR
FHAGNMBRRRRRAEESFF
@ o

(@) EERARK

AEUEERETEERE MRS
RBREERYBEEMSAEREKE
B xENEERBREIERBEHRT
R RITERNEERRAR -
ERZIBTIIAHZEBRITHRGAEE
BYRF AR o

All financial instruments are carried at amounts not materially different
from their fair values as at 31 March 2023 and 2024.

The Council is exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk
arising in the normal course of its operation and financial instruments.
The Council’s risk management objectives, policies and processes
mainly focus on minimising the potential adverse effects of these risks
on its financial performance and position by closely monitoring the
individual exposure.

(@) Credit risk

The Council has no concentration of credit risk. The maximum
exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of
the financial assets. The Council is exposed to credit risk on
financial assets, mainly attributable to deposits with banks. The
credit risk on bank deposits is limited because the counterparties
are authorised financial institutions regulated under the Hong
Kong Banking Ordinance.

2024 2023
HKS HK$
BB A TR ERIEE  Financial assets at amortised cost
¥% Deposits 2,879,993 2,883,093
EHhpEWFIE  Other receivables 1,160 3,896
$R177Fax  Bank balances 10,400,139 25,721,622
REER=ER U L Z EBRER
Time deposits with original maturity over 3months 33,297,879 19,000,000
46,579,171 47,608,611
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(b) RENEEER
RGO RBES AR EERBHMH
BE - FAYHESFHEREE  #
BRRNRSNRSEEY  URE
FEEFNEE

(b) Liquidity risk

16. Financial instruments (Continued)

cash which is available to meet its liquidity.

TR T HAERREFRFEGFEH

FHNETHER ZZTHERER

}Ffﬁﬁfﬁﬂﬁ NER(BEERES

BRF R IZHREHARAIF R (N

%& B) st B AFER) UkAFEr]
FERE RN R T BHIARS

contractual

cash

flows

(including

The Council is exposed to liquidity risk on financial liabilities. It
manages its funds conservatively by maintaining a comfortable
level of cash and cash equivalents in order to meet continuous
operational need. The Council ensures that it maintains sufficient

The details of remaining contractual maturities at the end of the
reporting period of the financial liabilities, which are based on
undiscounted
payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based
on rates current at the end of the reporting period) and the
earliest date the Council can be required to pay are as follows:

interest

BEISHKINIA —FRE Bia—F
EREfEE REnAaE HEXEE (EFERLF
Total
contractual Within 1 Over 1 year
Carrying undiscounted year or on but within
amount cash flow demand 5 years
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
2024
HnERUBREStER  Other payables and accruals 4,250,529 4,250,529 4,250,529 -
BEAE leaseliabilies 12674390 12900000 9675000 3225000
16,924,919 17,150,529 13,925,529 3,225,000
2023
HtEORIBRESER Other payables and accruals 3,475,566 3,475,566 3,475,566 -
BESE leaseliabilies 21,907,029 22,575,000 9,675,000 12,900,000
25,382,595 26,050,566 13,150,566 12,900,000

(© FIEER ©)

AENFXERFEREFITFNR
AENRTEREZATHER > F
XRBEERE Al XEFEAFAEE
HAEFBEAFERER

risk is expected.

G RBEHFTEENF X AR B
Eni HAEERFEILAR ¥TZL<

Interest rate risk

The Council’s exposure on interest rate risk mainly arises from its
cash deposits with bank. The Council mainly holds deposits with
bank in saving account and the exposure is considered not
significant. In consequence, no material exposure on interest rate

No sensitivity analysis for the Council’s exposure to interest rate
risk arising from deposits with bank is prepared since based on

EHNMBRANIEELEEATE the management’s assessment the exposure is considered not
significant.
d AanEEAEZEMIA (d) Financial instrument at fair value

RBESHR > ABLREEMTAN
NABEEYIR -

At the end of reporting period, there were no financial

instruments stated at fair value.
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17. EXMAMA XS 17. Material related party transactions
AEEBEARBHANERNETZRXZME  The Council had the following material related party transactions
wmr during the year:
2024 2023
HKS HK$
AEEHEME Honorarium paid to Council members 632,439 699,013

EEAE - BEAAT B ¥ EBBRME
BERREBHLS  NETIRECS
BREBEEABTE AN
A EHERAE NI EER SRR
AT o

18. MEEHEEARNHR

TRELAGNREZHAIEEEENE
8 BREFESERIFRTEEH  METHFHN
EENEBRDAHREMAKRKIFE R
B AgERFEERERTRESMER

When applicable, all transactions related to the procurement of goods
and services involving organisations in which a member of the Council
and key management personnel may have an interest are conducted
in the normal course of business and in accordance with the Council’s
financial obligations and normal procurement procedures.

18. Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities

The table below details changes in the Council’s liabilities from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Council’s

FPFEEMIREMN o statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.
HEafE
Lease liabilities
2024 2023
HKS HK$
W4E#  Atthe beginning of the year 21,907,029 4,107,538
MERMSHEEZEH : Changes form financing cash flows:
BEERSMEARSS Capital element of lease rentals paid (9,232,639)|| (10,135,768)

[SAREiE= kAl Se=ii)

MERSREEZEH4EEE  Total changes from financing cash flows

Hfth& g : Other changes:
FEE&EFE  Interest on lease liabilities
RERIFHHEEMENNEEERS

Increase in lease liabilities from entering into new lease during the year -

Hh&sh48%8 Total other changes

&R Atthe end of the year

Interest element of lease rentals paid

(442,362) (444,099)

____________________________________________ (9,675,001)  (10,579,867)
442,362 444,099

27,935,259

.. WW2,362 | 28,379,358
12,674,390 21,907,029

19. BB FFIRR

FYHEHEREEN _E_MFNBNBEE
TERRZ TEM -

19. Approval of financial statements

These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Council on
6 September 2024.
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Performance Pledges

BEEEERTFNERNEERE » 5] T —RIIBRF &GS

We attach great importance to efficient and quality performance.
Our performance pledges are:

REUER (IR CIFEFR) *

[BES:p) 4t
Handling of cases Performance target
g (standard response time)*
NE g BNRF
By telephone/in person Immediately
EH
Enquiries
=M 10RA
In writing Within 10 days
—f%{EZE Normal cases
AR FERRIREA LN —HEANEMEZ MEB A
(Glaper=gi= =il Within 3 months
Minor cases (such as Impoliteness or Neglect of Duty) with no
more than one round of Query raised by the IPCC with CAPO
EFE{EZE Complicated cases
BE H
mﬁ;ﬁ“ﬁ FrE BREREZR (FIMEHT SiiRiEE%) 61E 8 7Y
Monltopng of oA E RFE L LN —mE N M(EZ -
complaints All serious cases (such as Assault or Fabrication of Evidence) Within 6 months

and minor cases with two or more rounds of Queries raised
by the IPCC with CAPO

B IZ{EZE Review cases
ERBIZBERGFEESER D IEAIEZR

Requests for reviewing the classification of
Reportable Complaints

SEIEEY
Within 6 months

* ABERRERERKATRE /CIEN B A
Counting from the date of receipt of CAPQ’s final investigation report/response
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RoBEEG—HET IUFEAER UFRES
ER ~ EEAC TS WRA > BT HARIBR
o tEERF A RAE RS ENWERRE
RFERFEITREUE -

The cover of this year’s Annual Report features a
sailboat, representing the collaborative spirit of
IPCC Members, Observers and Secretariat staff
akin to a sailing team. Each team member plays a
crucial role aboard the vessel, ensuring the
optimal performance of the Council’s statutory
functions. Over the years, the IPCC has adhered to
the principle of handling each complaint strictly on
the basis of fact and evidence, honestly, without
fear or favour. This unwavering commitment enables
the Council to maintain impartiality regardless of the
ebbs and flows and ensures the steadfast
implementation of the two-tier police complaints
system in Hong Kong.

I“
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Independent Police Complaints Council For
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Rooms 1006-10, 10/F, China Resources Building,
No. 26 Harbour Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong

BiE Tel 1 2524 3841 / 2862 8399
8 H Fax : 2524 1801 / 2525 8042
B Email  : eng@ipcc.gov.hk
#4E Website : www.ipcc.gov.hk
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